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ASSEMBLY SELECT COMMITTEE ON VETERANS' AFFAIRS 
Richard E. Floyd, Chairman 

HEARING ON INCARCERATED VETERANS 

State Capitol, Sacramento, California 
December 1, 1983 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Welcome to a meeting of the Assembly 

Select Committee on Veterans' Affairs. It's a little unusual 

this morning, because this is one of the committees that usually 

has a higher attendance factor than most of them. It might have 

something to do with the issue or something, I don't know. 

The issue of incarcerated veterans and veterans in the 

Criminal Justice System is one which has gained increasing public 

attention in recent years. 

It is one of the most -- You recognize I'm reading this 

damned statement. 

(Laughter) 

Anyway, in the last couple of years I've made several 

visits to several of our prison facilities to meet with incarcer 

~ ated veterans. Many of their concerns are the same as anyone who 
~. 
~ has wound up in the "joint." But a lot of characteristics of 

~ 
~ incarcerated veterans are not common to the rest of the popula-

r tion. The veterans in the prison population, for instance, basi-,. 
cally have a higher rehabilitative potential than rest of the 

prison population. And basically the people that we find who are 

veterans in that situation are large numbers of first time 

• offenders as opposed to repeat offenders • 

• 



Today we're going to be hearing from witnesses repre

senting most of the aspects of the veterans' experience with the 

Criminal Justice System. We have a defense attorney, a judge, an 

in-prison counselor, a jail counselor, and those who do post

release services. We also will be exploring the phenomenon of 

Post-Traumatic stress as it relates to the involvement of Vietnam 

vets with the Criminal Justice System. 

Those of us in public office may come away from this 

hearing a bit frustrated. It's certainly not simple to attempt 

administratively or legislatively to modify the criminal justice 

or correctional systems to accommodate these issues. And it's 

certainly not a politically popular situation to be involved in 

an area like this. But at least we hope that we can get more of 

an understanding of what the problems are. Like I say, it's 

pretty obvious that within the Criminal Justice System and the 

attention we get in this room, that legislators in particular are 

really anxious to jump into situations --

Welcome, Mr. Hannigan. Mr. Hannigan is the senior mem

ber on this committee. 

If we were having a hearing about extending sentences; 

if we were having a hearing about creating new crimes -- new ways 

to throw people in prison, you'd have a whole lot of legislators 

up here wanting to prove that they're really dedicated to law and 

order, and locking people away, and establishing a Devills Island 

type thing, and everything else. But not when it comes down to 

dealing with a situation once it's there, whether it's the 

building of prisons, the overcrowding of prisons; or dealing with 
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the persons who are incarcerated, recognizing that regardless of 

where they are they're still citizens of this state -- and par-

ticularly when we're dealing with veterans. No matter where the 

man is or the woman is, they're still a veteran and there are 

still certain things that we try to look at. If we were dealing 

the other way, on how to throw people in and lock them up longer, 

more and longer punishments and tougher treatment and all that, 

you'll find a whole lot of our colleagues are very much interest-

ed. But when it comes down to dealing \vith the situation once 

it's there, you're going to find that the attention wanes. 

So, with that, we're going to start off this morning 

with a gentleman testifying who probably has a better grasp on 

individual veterans in the system and their problems and all, and 

I'd like to call for Mr. Bruce Pentland. Bruce is the Coordina-

tor for the Veterans in Prison Program out of the VA Medical 

Center in Los Angeles. Thank you Bruce. 

UNIDENTIFIED: (Inaudible) 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Oh, yes, well this works a little 

differently than most of the meetings you and I have participated 

in. Just make yourself comfortable. Give us a statement. Tell 

us your concerns. Whether you want to read it or just swing from 

the hip, anyway you want to go, Bruce. 

MR. BRUCE PENTLAND: Okay, fine. I've been asked to 

• read a brief introductory (inaudible) couple of minutes of pages 

(inaudible) . 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Yes, you're going to have to speak 

• right into that thing. First we've got to find one that's turned 

on. 
- 3 -
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UNIDENTIFIED: I thought you tested those, Buzz. 

(SILENCE) 

CP~IRMAN FLOYD: This only happens in my hearing~. 

What's this Joint Fairs Committee Hearing? How come I 

wasn't notified? I'm on the Joint Fairs Committee. 

(SILENCE) 

UNIDENTIFIED: (Inaudible) 

That's funny. with the other sergeants every mike 

works. There's something wrong here. Send Pam back. She knows 

how to make the mikes work. 

MR. PENTLAND: Okay. Mr. Chairman and members of the 

committee, the problem of incarcerated veterans is a timely sub

ject and one that has been discussed and debated on a variety of 

levels. For the most part, it is a problem whose scope has been 

drastically overstated, perhaps for good reasen, but still 

drastically overstated. The reality of this problem statistical

ly is much less dramatic, but in human terms it is still a seri

ous problem. 

Veterans incarcerated within the State of California -

and I'm talking about felony convictions only, within the Depart

ment of Corrections -- comprise about 27% of all inmates in this 

state. That's veterans of all eras. This really amounts to 

about 9,800, a little over 9,800 individuals in this state. Of 

this 27% population, a little over 6,200 are ,lietnam era veter

ans, or about 17% of the total prison population. And about 

2,500 are Vietnam veterans themselves, or about 7% of the total 

state population. 
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We can reclaim many of these men and women. Currently 

about four out of ten of the Vietnam era veterans are experienc-

ing incarceration for the first time in their lives. For people 

of this age group -- we're talking about an average age of about 

32 -- this is extremely atypical. If we don't make some attempt 

at some behavior modification, many of these individuals will be 

lost into the career criminal category. 

Veterans seem to make better prisoners than their non-

veteran counterparts because of their experience in living within 

hierarchical situations within the service; the mass living expe-

rience; and the fact that they average about two years older than 

the non-veteran population. They have a little more maturity. 

However, most veterans in prison are not career crimi-

nals. And this is even true for the pre-Vietnam era veterans. 

Most veterans, especially within the Vietnam and Vietnam era 

populations fall into the punishment or revenge modes of behav-

ior, with really the largest groups coming in with what I term 

the "outlaw" mode of behavior. They are people who are not "dyed 

in the wool" criminals, but really see no stake at all in socie-

tYi see nothing that society is ever going to do for them; and 

feel no interest in then contributing to anything society has. 
-

The later types of behavior, especially the outlaw type 

of individual, really offers a strong chance at a good opportuni-

ty for behavior modification, but only if such attempts are 

offered. Not all, or perhaps even a majority of veterans in 

prison, can or even want to change their living situations; how-

ever, there are the exceptional few who can be prevented from 
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entering on to the recidivism treadmill. This can be accom-

plished by offering timely intervention. Timely meaning being 

there where and when the veteran is ready for such intervention; • 
and offering the intervention that can be accepted by the veter-

an. 

Doing behavior modification within .prisons differs • 
greatly from doing such behavior modification on the street. And 

I realize the subject of this hearing is incarcerated veterans 

and I will not go into the behavior or the treatment aspects. • 
Suffice it to say there are very specific treatment aspects that 

do work with incarcerated veterans. 

I think the poignant factor is that I don't -- I person- • 
ally do not believe that we can afford to ignore these excep-

tions. And if only for economic reasons. If ten veterans per 

year were prevented from going back into a prison situation, this • 
alone would be a saving of $200,000 just to the Department of 

, 
Corrections for housing. This does not even include the savings 

in hunlan terms, both for turning the veteran into a productive • 
citizen and the cost to the victims. The savings to the court 

system or the police system are not counted in this. 

The issue, really, that this committee will be confront- • 
ed with today, I feel, is not should such intervention be 

offered. I quite strongly feel it should be, both for economic 

and for human reasons. The issue is not can such intervention be • 
offered. I think the experience of my program, the Veterans in 

Prison Program, over the past six years verifies that, yes, such 

intervention can be offered at extremely little cost. The real • 
- 6 -
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issue is, how do we offer such programs, and do we even want to 

offer them to the veterans in prison. 

You have, I think, my rather lengthy presentation up 

there, which I'm going to try and paraphrase as best I can at 

this point. Let me specify one thing before I get into my 

official prosentation. I am not a spokesperson for the Veterans' 

Administration. God knows the VA does not want me as their offi-

cial spokesperson. I appear here as a private citizen who hap-

pens to be employed by the VA and works with incarcera'ted 

veterans. 

The program I work is called the Veterans in Prison 

Program, which is functioning out of the Brentwood Veterans' 

Administration :Medical Center in Los Angeles. This is a pilot 

outreach program within Social Work Service, as a part of the 

Vietnam Veterans Liaison Unit; and is an attempt to provide 

resources cmd to meet the needs of incarcerated veterans of all 

eras. 

Currently, my program provides services to incarcerated 

veterans at: Tehachapi Correctional Institution -- both on the 

medium and minimum sides; California Institution for Men at Chino 

-- on the main yard; California Institution for Men East; Cali-

fornia Institution for Women; Terminal Island Federal Correction-

al Institution; California Rehabilitation Center -- where I began 

the program and have turned it over to other service providers; 

California Mens Colony in San Luis Obispo -- on both the East and 

vlest sides. Again, where I established the program and found 

service providers to meet the needs of the program. 
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I have programs within the Los Angeles County Jail 

System: Wayside Honor Rancho -- maximum, medium and minimum 

sides; Central Jail -- diversionary program, where we actively 

get people out of jail into treatment programs in lieu of incar

ceration; and, Sybil Brand Institution for Women. 

The VIP program provides services also to Los Angeles 

County Mental Health Programs at Warm Springs and Acton Rehabili

tation Centers. 

I've submitted a copy of a couple of articles that I 

have written in the past years concerning the functioning in more 

detail of what the VIP Program does; how we do it, why we do it, 

where we're going, etc. 

Briefly, the program is organized around the concepts of 

self-help and reality therapy. The foundation of the program is 

that "there's a reason that you are in jail, but there is no 

excuse." The point that really needs to be made here is that 

this program is not meant to condone, nor do we in any way con

done criminal or antisocial behavior~ 

About 80% of the men and women that I see -- that's 

about 400 people per month -- are of the Vietnam era, or are 

Vietnam veterans. We don't accept Vietnam as a reason, per se, 

for becoming involved in antisocial behaviors. What we do accept 

is that it might, and probably does, have something to do with 

their current situations. Something to do with it. We accept 

that in some cases, not alIt this period in the veteran's life 

left a very strong negative residual. We accept that if this 

negative residual is not dealt with, the veteran will never truly 
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• 
be able to enter the "main stream" of our society. We accept 

that in order to provide viable services, one must at least take 

the interest to provide them to the veteran where ever he or she 

is. To wait until the veteran is out of prison before extending 

such services basically means you're missing about 90% of the 

• people. 

The services offered through the program -- through the 

Veterans in Prison, or VIP Program -- are individual therapy 

• concerning their present situations, family therapy, group thera-

py, employment, help with VA benefits, discharge upgrading, 

employmeDt, referrals to veterans' service organizations, and 

• basic personal attention. 

Obviously, because of the numbers of individu~ls that I 

must be responsive to, time at each institution is brief. But 

• even with such marginal contacts, positive results can be 

achieved with reference to dealing with life styles and atti-

tudes. Many times, the simple fact that one demonstrates their 

• care, and that they care enough to come out to the prison to see 

the inmate, provides a foundation upon which at least some dia-

logue concerning change within the individual inmate's life can 

• begin. 

Then let me throw in here that I'm not saying that 

social work, and by no means social work intervention behavior 

• modifications, is the great silver bullet; that magic answer. I 

think that in some cases we can intervene. Maybe in a small 

number; and I think we have to be -- I think that goes with the 

• territory. 1 think in the past much too much has been stated and 
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expected of social work behavior modification type programs. I 

think there's a margin for success. I don't think it's as great 

as a lot of people have believed. 

As I mentioned, no excuse for incarceration is accepted. 

It's just as misleading to hold that no residuals of Vietnam, or 

the service person's past experience, affects the veteran/in

mate's life today as it is to hold that all current problerns can 

be blamed on, for example, Vietnam, or anyone thing within a 

person's life. 

There will be a book 

of this before coming up here 

and I did receive confirmation 

which will be published early 

next year, through the American Psychological Association. One 

of the chapters in that book will deal with treatment modalities 

concerning incarcerated veterans. However, again, I recognize 

the concern here is not so much with treatment but with the view 

of the overall situation. 

My basic concern, by bringing all this up, is to really 

point out that the VIP Program is really in the business of 

exceptions. Again, not all incarcerated veterans are even inter

ested in changing their life. The VIP Program is not set up to 

show the veteran how wrong he has been. We really don't do value 

judgment, per see What we do is deal with reality: You do the 

crime, you're going to do the time. The world is not necessarily 

a fair or just place; but this inequity must be dealt with. By 

everybody. We are actively looking for the exceptions to the 

general rule of prison life. We are looking and seeking out the 

veterans who desire such changes in their lives. We are looking 
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for these exceptions, just as you individuals are looking for the 

exceptional legislator, the exceptional student, etc. If one 

really doesn't look for them, they're going to go unnoticed. 

When you dig these people out, when you discover them, you need 

to nourish their growth; you need to provide some supportive 

atmosphere. 

Prisons are not real good places for providing a change 
, 
t , of attitude. The peer values that are in existence in prisons 
~. 

don't really support an individual that says, "Maybe I haven't 

done as well as I could, and I really would like not to come back 

here. And I really would like to consider doing a change." That 

is a difficult attitude for a man or a woman to adopt while in 

prison. They're not going to get a whole lot of support from the 

rest of the people on those cell blocks. 

Prison counseling differs greatly from doing "street" 

counseling. And again, I'm sensitive to the time, so I point out 

that we do have some very specific answers. Or maybe not 

answers; we have some specific approaches to deal with this area. 

One must recognize, however, that you're dealing with a prison 

atmosphere, and you must recognize the limitations that it places 

both on the counselor and the inmate. To go into a prison situa-

tion with the attitude that all prison staff is bad, or that all 

the inmates are simply poor misunderstood individuals, really 

• leads to dysfunctional products. The stress of the VIP Program 

is on individual responsibilities in all areas of the veterans' 

life, and no excuse for violating this concept is ever really 

• accepted or condoned. We'll discuss it, but we won't condone it. 
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Currently the Veterans in Prison Program has a very 

loose link with the Department of Corrections. It's basically on 

a de facto basis. After the initial organization of this program 

at several correctional institutions, requests were received from 

other Department of Corrections facilities to begin programs in 

their specific areas. In most cases I was able to meet these 

needs. 

However, because of problems of logistics, in some pro

grams I was unable to meet those requests; however, was lucky 

enough to find in several prisons community based organizations 

to do the outreach. Programs like the Disabled American Veterans 

in the Los Angeles area, and the California State Department of 

Corrections, have been extremely helpful in trying to meet the· 

needs of the veterans in prison population. Also several of the 

Vet Center programs -- the Operation Outreach, through the 

Veterans' Administration, especially in the San Francisco area 

have been extremely sensitive and responsive to the needs of the 

incarcerated veteran population; really, in spite of some very 

strong inducements not to become involved in that area. 

I'm currently a part of the reentry programs at some of 

the CDC facilities I work at. At other facilities I'm a part of 

the Group Coordinator's office, where I run the self-help groups. 

Whenever possible, I do try and get staff, preferably Vietnam 

vets. And perhaps surprisingly, perhaps not, there's an awful 

lot of Vietnam staff, correctional officers, within the Depart

ment of Corrections. 
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I've met with CDC officials, again, with the help and 

through the help of the state Departme'nt of Veterans I Affairs 

here in Sacramento, concerning providing Agent Orange testing and 

aid to incarcerated Vietnam vets; and found a most receptive 

audience. We've also arranged hospital release programs with 

several of the prisons that I work with, where we can get a vet-

eran out of the prison, to a VA facility for maybe a day, for an 

evaluation, for an assessment. Again, through the Department of 

Corrections, I found a great deal of support for these types of 

programs when viably and properly administered. 

What I'd like to do at this point is go into some gener-

al characteristics of the incarcerated veteran population within 

this state. Just a very quick rundown. Most of the data that 

I'm going to give you comes from a national study done by the 

Federal Bureau of Prisons. They use the base year of 1979 for 

the study. The study is as recent as we have; it was published 

last year. I'm going to cormine with this study some data that I 

received from the California State Department of Corrections. 

They also use the year of 1979 in their data collection. The 

difference between the two studies is almost minimal, with the 

exception that California has a greater percentage of incarcerat-

ed veterans than on the national average. That really isn't 

surprising, because California is, if not the most populous, at 

least one of the most populous veteran states in the nation. So 

we would not be unlikely to have a little higher percentage with-

in our facilities. And I'll try to do this as quickly as possi-

ble. 

- 13 -

.. 



*Currently there are about 36,500 convicted felons 
within the Department of Corrections system. This is 
up from 21,000 in ~978. 

*Of this population, 27% are incarcerated for non
assaultive type crimes. 

*In California, about 27% of this population are 
veterans of all eras. 

*About 17% of the felon population are Vietnam era 
veterans. 

*About 7% are Vietnam veterans, per see 

*Veterans generally are convicted of more violent crimes 
than are their non-veteran peers. 

I will be specific when I talk about different eras. 

When I say veterans, I refer to veterans of all eras, the com-

bined category 

*At the time of the offense, about 27% of these 
incarcerated veterans were under the influence of 
drugs. 

*About 50% were under the influence of alcohol at the 
time of their offense. 

*On the average, veterans are less likely to go to 
prison than are their non-veteran peers. 

*Once inside prison, veterans tend to make better 
prisoners, simply because of their experience, perhaps; 
living in mass living situations; dealing with orders; 
and again, their maturity factor. 

Concerning eras of service~ 

Pre Vietnam veterans: 

*Their average is 45 years. 

*They're less likely to have graduated from high 
school than other veterans -- other incarcerated 
veterans. 

*They're more likely to have been incarcerated 
prior to their current sentence. 
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~. 

*They're more likely to be serving a longer 
sentence than other veterans. 

*They're more likely to be separated or divorced 
than are veterans from other eras. 

Vietnam era veterans: 

*As of this year, their average in prison is about 
32 years of age. 

*They show a very close similarity to non-veterans 
in terms of age, crime, and marital status, etc. 

*They're more likely to use drugs than veterans of 
other eras. 

The point here is that veterans of the Vietnam era, in other 

words, children of the '60's, whether they're veterans or not, 

are more likely to use drugs than are their peers from other 

eras. 

*They're more likely to have never married than 
veterans in prison from other eras. 

One of the indices of Post-Traumatic stress, and we're 

talking about in this category Vietnam era veterans which 

includes Vietnam veterans, is the difficulty with relationships; 

the difficulty in reaching out and building solid relationships. 

This certainly supports that indices of Post-Traumatic stress. 

It does not indicate Post-Traumatic stress; but it certainly 

supports that concept. 

*As of 1983, these veterans have been out of the 
service for an average of 12 years. 

*Nationally, the Vietnam era veteran comprises 
about 15% of your state felon population. 

*In California, it's about 7%. 

*Nationally, Vietnam eras comprise about 5% of the 
prison population. 
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*Blacks and whites are about equally likely to have 
served in Vietnam. 

*About 30% of the-Vietnam veterans have a less
than-honorable discharge. 

Minority statistics: 

*Non-veteran minorities are highly over represented 
in our CDC facilities -- California State Depart
ment of Correction facilities. 

*However, minority veterans show a much smaller 
incarceration figure. For example: 

-50% of the non-veteran population are Black. 
-33% of the veteran population are Black. 

-10% of the non-veteran population are 
Hispanic. 

-7% of the veteran population are Hispanic. 

Drug and alcohol use: 

*Veterans are less likely than non-veterans to have 
been under the influence of drugs at the time of 
their offenses. 

*About 50% of the veterans and non-veterans -- 48% 
versus 56% -- used drugs regularly. And by that, 
I mean at least once a week. 

*20% of the veterans and non-veterans used heroin. 

*75% of the veterans and 80% of the non-veterans 
have used drugs at least once in their lite. 

*Vietnam era and post-Vietnam era veterans: 

-A large majority of these men have used mari
juana regularly. 

Again, this is not surprising. For children of the 

'60's and '70's, marijuana is a very common drug for veterans and 

non-veterans. 

*25% of Vietnam era and 10% of post-Vietnam era 
veterans have used heroin, at least at some point 
in their life. 

*Vietnam veterans were only slightly more likely to 
use heroin than were Vietnam era veterans. 
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*25% of all incarcerated veterans have an alcohol 
problem. 

*33% of the Vietnam era veterans have an alcohol 
problem. 

*Alcohol is by far the strongest problem for post
Vietnam veterans. That's 40% of the post-Vietnam 
veterans. 

*Vietnam veterans are no more likely to be alco
holic than are Vietnam era veterans. 

Employment: 

*The majority of incarcerated veterans were, at the 
time of the offense, unemployed. 

*14% of the incarcerated veteran population had no 
income for the year prior to their arrest. 

*Of those who did, their average earned salaries 
while higher than the non-veteran population 
was still below the national average. 

Education: 

*Veterans in prison are as well educated as their 
veteran peers within society. However, they are 
much more likely to have a less-than-honorable 
discharge than are the non-incarcerated veterans. 

*Veterans in prison are much better educated than 
are their non-veteran counterparts. 

-60% of veterans in prison have a high school 
diploma, at least. 

-Only 40% of non veterans have a high school 
diploma. 

-Post Vietnam veterans have a percentage of 
55% average for a high school degree at 
least. 

-Median education of incarcerated veterans is 
12.3 years. 

-Median education of veterans not in prison is 
12.6 years. 
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Criminal careers: 

*There are really no major differences between the 
eras of veterans, when talking about criminal 
careers. 

-25% of all veterans committed their crime 
while in the service. 

-25% of each era of veterans service had done 
time prior to going into the service. 

-33% of all veterans in prison had been on 
probation before the age of 20. 

*Incarceration: 

Crimes: 

-50% of post-Vietnam era veterans had been 
incarcerated at least once prior to the 1979 
base year. 

-60% of Vietnam era veterans had been incar
cerated prior to 179. 

-75% of the pre-Vietnam era veterans had expe
rienced a previous incarceration. 

*Most veterans commit crimes of violence. 

And this is on the average. Which is similar to non-

veterans in the respect that about 60% of each groups, veterans 

versus non-veterans, are incarcerated for violent acts. 

*About 33% of the veterans do property crime; about 
33% of the non-veterans do property crime. 

*About 5% of veterans do drug or public disorder 
crimes; about 5% of non-veterans do drug and dis
order crimes. 

*Veterans are more likely to be sentenced for: 
-murder 
-rape 
-armed assaults 

than are non-veterans. They are least likely to 
be sentenced for: 

-robbery 
-burglary 

*'Nhi te veterans are more likely to commit violent 
acts than are the Black veteran population: 57% 
versus 49% respectively. 
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*For Blacks, veteran status made little difference 
with respect to violent actions. About 66% of 
each group was sentenced for such violence. 

*White veterans were less likely than white non
veterans to have done a drug related crime. Among 
the Black population, again, veteran status made 
little difference in this consideration. 

*Black and white veterans were incarcerated in 
equal proportions for public disorder crimes. 

*The era of service made little difference in the 
type of crime the veterans were convicted of. 
Conviction for violent crime was similar for each 
group. 

*Post-Vietnam veterans were: 

-more likely to commit property crimes than 
the other eras of veterans. 

-less likely to have committed a drug offense 
-- again compared with veterans of other 
eras. 

Sentence: 

*As a group, veterans, on an average, tend to do 
longer sentences than their non-veteran counter
parts. 

-12% of the Vietnam era veterans are doing 
life sentences. 

-17% of pre-Vietnam veterans are doing life 
sentences. 

-2% of post-Vietnam era veterans are doing 
life. 

Type of discharge from service: 

*More than 90% of all service persons receive an 
honorable discharge. 

*Only about 50% of the incarcerated veteran popu
lation on a whole has an honorable discharge. 

Branch of Service: 

*Most of your incarcerated veterans came from the 
u.S. Army. 
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-59% served in the Army. 
-18% in the Marines. 
-14% in the Navy. 
- 9% in the Air Force. 

Interestingly enough, the majority of Vietnam era veterans served 

in the Marine Corps; and of the Vietnam veterans, those that 

actually saw service in Vietnam, the majority also served in the 

Marine Corp. 

Service connected disabilities: 

*10% of the incarcerated veteran population have 
some type of service connected disability. 

*Vietnam veterans serving time were more likely 
than veterans of other eras to have such service 
connected disabilities. 

Because these veterans have been convicted of crimes 

against their fellow man does not mean that they are totally 

devoid of human worth, nor does it mean that they are totally 

unreclaimable. In a very small proportion of the cases that I 

see, the individual is simply not interested in changing his or 

her life pattern. In the majority of cases, the individual real-

ly is open to some type of change if it is presented within a 

context he or she can accept. 

The VIP program recognizes that not all of the incarcer-

ated veteran population will respond to attempts at behavior 

modification. It recognizes that in some cases the individuals 

are a direct and serious threat to society and need to be locked 

up. This is a reality of life. As Richard Pryor says, "Thank 

God for prisons!" There are people that will never function 

within our society. We do not ignore that. I recognize that. 
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However, this program is, again, dedicated to the exceptions to 

the rule. It is set to encourage the cultivation of positive 

values and attitudes. It is set to encourage and direct this 

change by concentration on the positive attributes that the 

veteran retains, and to deal with the negative factors that have 

led to the incarceration. 

Some of the things that can Le considered in order to 

meet the needs of this population are: 

1. It would be extremely helpful if the Department of 
Corrections could screen out all veterans at the 
Reception Centers -- which they have the capacity to 
do -- and consider, if the person is a Vietnam vet
eran, making participation within a "rap" or therapy 
group mandatory for them. The performance within 
this program could be monitored, let's say, by the 
counselor who's going to do the program, and by CDC 
staff. 

However my experience in the ast six years leads me to 

strongly believe that if the program is only going to be run and 

monitored by staff, it's not going to have the reception from the 

inmates that it will if CDC acknowledges outside help. And 

again, I stress that the reception that I have received from the 

Department of Corrections has been excellent. And not to blow my 

uwn horn, ~o to speak, but I think it's been excellent because I 

can offer and have been very sensitive to their specific needs 

for custody and to really set up a viable responsive program that 

can communicate with the staff and not ignore them. 

2. One point that would be extremely helpful is, on the 
CS rating, Item Number 6, given at the Reception 
Centers -- there's a question that concerns the type 
of discharge one receives from the service. And 
this point, in effect, punishes people with less
than-honorable discharges. 
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Now the fact is that all of our data comes from the 

Reception Center questionnaires. I think that we are perhaps in 

some respect missing some data, because if I know that if I 

answer that I have a less-than-honorable discharge and I am going 

into a prison situation and I know that those two things are 

going to make my life harder, I probably will not respond that I 

have a less-than-honorable discharge. I may just slide over that 

question altogether; or say, no I'm not a veteran. 

The problem is many Vietnam and Vietnam era veterans 

received less-than-honorable discharges. We know that is a fact 

of life. To punish these people for having that discharge --

when in fact, they may not have deserved the discharge; when in 

fact, we can work on getting those discharges upgraded, if we 

only know who those people are -- is really dual punishment. And 

if that one provision were removed, I think it would be a great 

help. 

3. CDC could, perhaps, consider cre~ting central facil
ities: much like the tone of Penal Code 1170.8, to 
house Vietnam veterans who are cited or who have 
evidence of Post-Traumatic stress or substance abuse 
that was cited and a relevant factor during their 
trials. 

4. It would be extremely helpful to have the CDC medi
cal and counseling staff receive a briefing on 
Post-Traumatic Stress and Agent Orange. 

To this light, I understand that there is a briefing 

scheduled with the Department of Corrections for their chief 

medical officers on Agent Orange at some point in the future. 

5. These counselors and medical staff also should be 
made aware of -- and strongly made aware of -- the 
veterans' programs that are operating within their 
facilities and of the veterans' programs that are 

- 22 -

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



~. 

within the community that could offer help to the 
staff at the prisons. 

6. It would be extremely helpful to encourage the 
California Institution for Women to consider their 
veteran population. 

Again, I'm very sensitive to the time requirements of 

the committee, and I know there are other people to follow. I 

have a statement from a female Vietnam veteran, who has just been 

released from prison, that I've been working with for two years. 

She would very much like to have this statement -- I would like 

to read it in; but again, recognizing the time constraints 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Read it in. 

MR. PENTLAND: Okay, as soon as I get through w'ith this 

paragraph, you've got it. Thank you. 

The Department of Corrections can activate self-help 

groups at the female prisons. 

This statement is made by a young lady, a female Vietnam 

veteran who has just gotten out of prison. Interestingly enough, 

this lady, she was out of prison on November the 7th. This is 

now November 30th. On November 28th, she was hired by the Veter-

ans' Administration in l,os Angeles, within General Counsel's 

office as a legal secretary. This woman, prior to going in the 

service, led a rather chaotic life. She's one of the people I'm 

talking about that if support, aid, etc., was not offered to her 

while she was incarcerated, we would have -- and it is not 

impossible that she's going to go back in prison. God knows, I 

have no promises. I've been wrong before; I'm going to be wrong 

many more times in my life. However, I feel extremely confident; 

I feel very positive about this. This is her statement: 
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"The need for veterans' representation inside the 
women's prison at Frontera, California, is extremely 
important and vital. 

"I was the in-prison veteran representative at 
California Institution for Women for one and one-half 
years. I tried to start a veterans' self-help group 
for months, to no avail. The objective of the self-help 
group was to inspire veterans, dependents of veterans, 
and other interested inmates in the areas 0f self
motivation, self-esteem, pride, dignity, and self
rehabilitation. 

"A secondary objective was to provide in-prison 
counseling on an individual and group basis which would 
induce positive mental growth and development. 

"This proposal was presented to the prison adminis
tration and denied. The reason for the denial was based 
on the implementation of a CDC pre-release program, which 
was to primarily include the same objectives as those 
proposed by the self-help veterans' group. 

"I took the liberty of sitting in on a pre-release 
program. It is a good program and does provide positive 
information for personal development; but it is not 
directed towards the deep, emotional problems which 
individuals are subjected to, which are perpetuated by 
incarceration. without assistance, the emotional aspect 
of the individual growth and development of the person 
is not of any substance in the overall growth process. 

"The program does not direct any specific daily 
presentation towards the incarcerated veterans; par
ticularly Vietnam era veterans. Mr. Bruce Pentland, 
Veterans' representative for the Veterans In Prison, 
comes to the institution once a month and incorporates 
specific veteran information to the inmates attending 
the pre-release program. Mr. Pentland's presentation 
is positive, informative "etc., etc. 

"Time allowed, only once a month, anywhere from 30 
minutes to an hour, is not enough. This amount of time 
merely allows for the representative to squeeze in 
information about benefits ... " etc. 

"The assistance available through the Veterans' 
Administration is extensive and should be thoroughly 
explained and fully exercised by the female veterans. 
When a veteran representative has to squeeze in infor
mation about benefits and assistance available and 
provided by the VA for the incarcerated veteran, that 
veteran population gets only a portion of what is 
available and it is cheated out of the beneficial 
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knowledge and guidance. 

lilt also eliminates the opportunity for the Vet
erans' Administration t.O fU,lly display their abilities 
as an organization. In order to provide adequate 
information, guidance and counseling of any substance 
to veterans and dependents of veterans, a self-help 
group directed primarily at the needs of this group is 
necessary. Females, like males who are veterans, need 
strongand consistent guidance, particularly those in 
prison. The Veterans' Administration employs men and 
women specifically trained in areas of counseling and 
therapy. 

"The prison environment causes similar emotional 
trauma, such as that suffered by Vietnam veterans. 
The same type of therapy should be available to incar
cerated female veterans, for prison is in reality a war 
zone. Incarcerated female veterans have needs; and 
these needs, many of them, can be met by the Veterans' 
Administration. The Veterans' Administration should be 
allowed to enter into the prisons, specifically CIW, 
often to offer help to the female veteran. 

"The implementation of a veterans' self-help group 
at the California Institution for Women would bring 
positive results for veterans and non-veterans alike. 
The need for sincerer strong support for female veterans 
who are incarcerated is as serious as that for the incar
cerated male veteran. There is an emotional need, not 
only an outer developmental need, that must be treated. 

"As a Vietnam era veteran and a recently released 
prisoner from the California Institution for Women, I 
believe that I can confidently provide sound evaluation 
of the needs of the female veterans there. I pursued 
assistance from the Veterans' Administration while 
incarcerated, and upon release; and they assisted me 
with counseling, employment leads, and workshops; 
aided me in the readjustment period; and are still pro
viding this service. 

"This is an extremely vital period in the ex-felon's 
life, particularly if they do not want to immediately, 
or ever, return to prison. The strangers that I meet 
who are employed by the VA have treated me as a friend 
and are extremely understanding. 

"A self-help organization for the females would be 
convenient and would provide a constant and consistent 
help organization. The pre-release programs end upon 
release from prison. The Veterans' Administration con
tinues help for as long as you ask. 
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"The Veterans' Administration is an organization 
that should get involved with the veterans in prison 
and stay involved. Veterans in prison need a reentry 
facility which provides continued housing and positive 
guidance. Continuous assistance is a sound founda
tion for positive readjustment to society. A veteran 
reentry facility would enhance positive growth, 
especially because the Vet Center employees are very 
positive people. They tend to be more supportive 
and sincere about helping than are their peers, 
especially within the VA. 

"In the near future, I plan to work within the 
Veterans' Administration, within the prisons. I care, 
and I know what kind of help is needed within this 
system. And the state is not adequately providing 
that type of help." 

As I say, she is now employed within General Counsel's 

office within the Los Angeles office for the Veterans' Adminis-

tration. 

perhaps: 

Some other things that the CDC could do would be to, 

7. Formally recognize and encourage the foundation of 
the Veterans In Prison self-help programs within 
their facilities. 

8. Perhaps one thing this committee could do would be 
to encourage the VA and other service providers to 
get involved with the incarcerated veteran popula
tion. 

9. Perhaps this committee could encourage CDC to give 
preference points to veterans -- especially those 
veterans convicted of non-assaultive type crimes 
towards early releases or work release type pro
grams. 

During the past six years, the cooperation that I have 

received from the VA and the State Department of Corrections has, 

for'the most part, been very positive and very supportive. Per-

haps it has come time for the Department of Corrections within 
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[ i the state to formalize this program within their institutions. I 
~ 

realize that the current public voice is crying for punishment in 

lieu of rehabilitation. I, in fact, am stressing rehabilitation, 

because I honestly feel that behavior modification can be effec-

tive within prisons; although, not to the degree that many people 

would like, or have stated that it can be done. 

Concerning Penal Code 1170.8, the potential for realiz-

ing many of the goals that I've set out previously is certainly 

present. To ~ knowledge -- and I really restrict that to my 

specific knowledge -- the main problem so far with this particu-

lar law has been that the federal correctional system doesn't 

offer any treatment programs for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorders, 

or substance abusers. At least, programs that are substantially 

different from those that might be provided or available within 

the Department of Corrections systems. 

Because the Vet Center program formally and officially 

cannot offer aid to the prisons in these areas of concern, incar-

ceration facilities really find themselves in a bind. If they 

want to provide services to their veterans, they may not be able 

to obtain any supportive services from those who should be most 

knowledgeable. And in many cases, the service provider is 

unaware of the special concerns and tactics necessary in order to 

properly present the intervention to the incarcerated veteran. 

My personal feeling is that in order for 1170.8 to be-

come effective, the state really must make its interest known to 

the VA concerning the issues of incarcer~ted veterans. They must 

indicate to the VA what supportive services the state is willing 
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to offer; and what supportive services the state sees as avail

able from the VA in order to accomplish this task, both from 

state resources, which should include community based organiza

tions, and from other federal programs. 

Basically, it has been my experience during the past six 

years that such services can be offered at a very minimal cost to 

everyone -- state and federal system alike. However, there are 

certain legalities, certain points that the VA must deal with in 

order to formally offer this aid to the prisons. Again, my per

sonal feeling is laws should never be thought of as insurmount

able barriers, or reasons why we cannot do something. After all, 

man writes the laws to serve him, and it's not vice versa. 

The point must be emphasized here that and really, 

you know, as much as I tend to bad mouth the VA at times, they 

have been most supportive, as has the State of California, to my 

individual efforts. 

What I'd really like to do is sum up here. 

on long enough. 

I've rambled 

The point that we're dealing with here is that, as I've 

stated before, almost half of the Vietnam era veterans who are 

currently in jail are experiencing incarceration for the first 

time in their lives. At the age of 32, this is extremely unusu

al. We're dealing with something here which really indicates 

that these people are not your professional criminals. They're 

not people who view incarceration as just part of the price they 

pay for their lifestyle. They have been for, in many cases, 

10-12 yecl.rs, very productive members of this society. And some-

thing has gone wrong. 
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Now, I stress that not every vet in prison is going to 

respond to a counseling attempt. Not every person in society is 

going to respond to anything. My individual feeling is that this 

program is not only personally viable, it is also economically 

viable. My salary, I think, is more than paid for by the people 

that we can keep out of the system. And I mean that in just 

straight, direct cost. And I'm ignoring the social cost. 

I think we owe it to the incarcerated veteran population 

to at least extend what services we can. Again, the issue is not 

should we extend the services? I don't see a doubt there. The 

issue is not can we? I think we quite cleanly and easily can 

extend the services. The real issue that we're dealing with here 

is, do we want to? Do we care enough about this population to 

extend services to them to try and prevent recidivism? 

Thank you very much. 

I CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Bruce, just a couple of things. 

First, I got a little bit of an advantage, I guess, 

because I participated in the program with you. 

I appreciate the letter from the female vet and the 

concern there, because we've pretty much determined that the 

primary thrust of this committee over the next year is going to 

be women vets in general. It's an area which in all phases we, 

and everyone else, seems to have not considered. 

But one of the things -- and there's no question, I've 

been with you in the places and I've seen the support, not only 

from the VA, but from the Department of Corrections. But one of 

the primary complaints that I receive more often than any other 
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complaint from the people in there is that -- though there's a 

violent crime rate of 60-some% -- the nonviolent convicts, they 

tell me that when they go in, particularly if they show a combat 

situation in Vietnam, regardless -- and you know one gentleman 

I'm referring to was a forger for God's sake -- as soon as they 

ask a veteran, "yes, we're Vietnam combat, yes." Then his treat-

ment is isolation treatment. And everything else from the 

department is as if he had committed a rape and a murder. Is 

that pretty much ..• ? I mean, that's what I'm getting. The 

Department does treat the combat Vietnam vet as a violent crimi-

nal, regardless of the crime he's there for. 

MR. PENTLAND: That's pretty much a true situation, in 

the classification, in the Reception Center processing. That's 

fairly standard. Let me point this out, again, in fairness to 

CDC. What I am finding is that once a person, you know, is set 

down in whatever facility they're going to go to -- and again, 

let me qualify this -- at least within the facilities that I am 

able to get to, we can pretty much start dealing with that and 

change some of those classifications. However, you know, the CDC 

functions on a point system. You know, as far as where you get 

minimum, medium, etc., etc. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Yes. 

MR. PENTLAND: And that was one of the issues I was more 

or less alluding to in the recommendations concerning the Recep-

tion Center processing. It's fine to isolate the vet. But by 

putting them in isolation -- Let's not say isolation. It's fine 

to know who the Vietnam veterans are, but when you put them in 
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isolation, in a number of the cases -- God knows how many. 

Nobody knows. I don't know. CDC doesn't know. Etc. But in 

some of these cases, all you're doing is feeding the situation 

that got the man into trouble. You're taking him out. You're 

forcing him to, don't participate with your fellow man. 

If we could get the CDC to, say, "All right, lets find 

out who these Vietnam vets are, and mandate 'rap' groups. You 

have to go. I don't care whether you want to go. You don't want 

to go. You're a prisoner in our system •.. " Which is what it 

is. This is a prison. The person has done a crime. You know, 

that is a basic. What the cause of that crime is, that1s what 

we'd like to deal with. But the fact of life is, "You're doing 

time now. We own you for as long as your custody permits." And 

if we could get CDC to say, "Look, we mandate that you go into a 

treatment group, a therapy group, a 'rap' group," rather than the 

isolation, I think we've got a much better chance to get to some 

of these people. I think we have an excellent chance of getting 

to some of them. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: That,' s one of our problems. Every time 

we come up with a suggestion -- and I'm certain that people with 

the responsibility, and CDC feel the same way -- then we come up 

with, there's another cost. Here's another problem, and that:s 

something we will be talking with CDC about, but ... 

MR. PENTLAND: I have a solution for them. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: ... that's the name of the game. 

MR. PENTLAND: I have a very good solution for them. In 

essence, this program that I've been running for the six years, 
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has not cost CDC one dime, for their support, for anything. The 

program has cost the VA a salary. There are enough programs in 

existence, both within government -- and I mean at all levels of 

government -- and within the community where we do not have to 

reinvent the wheel to do a behavior modification program. Every

thing is in place. All of the mechanisms are there. All that we 

need is somebody to say, "Let's do it," and we can do it. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: And I would point out, too, that par

ticularly the wardens and staff people that I've talked to when 

we've been on location, without fail, all think your program is a 

good program and a helpful program for their situation. I think 

that's sort of important too. 

!-1R. PENTLAND: Well, r think, you know, the point is, 

and again, I'm going back and I don't mean to repeat, but there 

has to be a recognition of the reality. And these are not poor, 

misbegotten, misunderstood individuals. In the twelve years 

in the twelve years. -- In the six years it seems longer! 

In the six years I've been doing this program, I can really count 

twelve people that I've come across that I really feel, honestly 

I'm convinced, are misunderstood, etc., etc. They got the shaft, 

okay? But the overwhelming vast majority, yes, they did a crime. 

And again, if there's a reason for that, or if there's something 

that we can help with so that they don't do the same thing again, 

and if we can do it cheaply, I mean •.. Why not? 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Yes. Okay, thank you. 

Mr. Hannigan, nothing? 

Thank you, Bruce. 
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MR. PENTLAND: Thank you very much. 

CHAIRViliN FLOYD: The next witness is Dr. Jack Herrera, 

Director of Veteran Services, California Department of Veteran 

Affairs. 

DR. JACK HERRERA: Mr. Chairman and members of the com-

mittee, I have a prepared statement, and would like to move to 

other comments r. \vi th permission, from time-to-time. 

CHAIRHAN FLOYD: Go with it. 

DR. HERRERA: On behalf of Hr. Andres Mendez, Director 

of the Department of Veterans Affairs, I'd like to thank you for 

the Jpportunity to testify on the issue of incarcerated veterans. 

You already noted my name, and that I am Chief of the 

Division ot Veteran Services. 

The department has a long-standing concern for this 

group of veterans. The previous speaker gave a real comprehen-

sive background on the problem confronting incarcerated veterans, 

so 1111 not repeat those same areas, but rather will comment 

briefly on the issues we have been involved with within the 

department. 

I. 
i 

In your letter of November 10, 1983, you requested 

information on the following points: 

First, a brief overview of the research, or action the 

department has taken to address the needs of California's incar-

cerated veteran population; and, 

Second, the suggestions for legislative or adrrtinist.ra-

tive action to address the needs of incarcerated veterans and to 

assist in the rehabilitation of these veterans. 
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And departing from the text a minute, I came to the 

department in July of this past year. 

the State Department of Mental Health. 

Before that, I was with 

Before that, I spent 15 

years wi.th the federal government with the Administration on 

Aging; the Rehabilitation Services Administration; and with the 

former Developmental Disabilities Council of this state. In 

ligh-c of that, I simply wanted to give comment to my somewhat 

better understanding than normal of the issues confronting the 

committee today. 

In '79, the department initiated an outreach program at 

the California Correctional Institute in Tehachapi. There we 

worked closely with this institution to provide counseling and 

direct assistance to incarcerated veterans in obtaining benefits 

that we normally obtain for all veterans from the Federal Veter

ans' Administration. 

In 1980, due to the changes in the VA regulations, the 

department found itself in a situation which had virtually elimi

nated the kind of benefit to the department to continue this pro

gram for incarcerated veterans. We were no longer able to obtain 

those dollars, and because of that, we had to end our onsite 

visits; but do continue -- from a day-to-day point-of-view, and 

on a day-to-day basis to provide claims benefits representa

tion for all veterans of all eras, as well as to their siblings, 

their spouses, their dependents in general. 

A second major effort was initiated in 1982, when the 

department met several times with representatives from the 

Department of Corrections, and the Veterans' Administration as 
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well. Through these discussions, four major areas of concern 

were identified. And I'll point those out: 

First of all, we agreed that it was important to improve 

the collection and analysis of data on the incarcerated veteran 

population. 

And I personally find that this is needed in more areas 

than this particular concept we're talking about today. I find 

whenever I go looking for data information about veterans, it's 

literally impossible to find. It's one of the things the Depart-

ment of Veterans' Affairs is very interested in working on and 

developing, as the next several months go by. 

But we agreed, at any rate, the analysis of data was 

very difficult to find. And it's our understanding that the 

Department of Corrections does not separate periods of service on 

wartime experience; and that other areas of data are also lack-

ing. This topic was discussed because specific data on the Cali-

fornia veteran population would be definitely more helpful in 

order to clearly define the needs of this group, and all other 

problems that veterans have. 

Number Two, Vole also identified a need to provide psycho-

logical counseling to those incarcerated veterans who suffer from 

Post-Traumatic Stress Syndrome, and other psychological problems. 

It is possible that consideration might be given to developing a 

pilot project that would use VA Center personnel. 

~'lithin the last five months, I've been personally 

speaking to the directors of the VA's in each of the regions, as 

\vel1 as our San Diego, our Los Angeles, and our San Francisco 
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offices, and I have received from them agreement, let us say, 

that they are very interested in proceeding with us in the 

• department to work out whatever we can. I'm also seeking federal 

grants to attempt to include and increase the viability in the 

areas of visibility we give to this particular program, and your • interest on this committee today, sir. 

We also, in a third area, discussed at these meetings 

the feasibility of treating incarcerated veterans at VA medical • centers, including Agent Orange examinations. At that time, we 

thought it might be feasible to transport incarcerated veterans 

to VA medical facilities for treatment; but because of several • reasons, including security problems, we agreed this optior- was 

not, at least at this point in time, practical. 

Finally, as a fourth point, we briefly discussed the • possibility of instituting a program where veterans' representa-

tives employed by the Employment Development Department could 

develop services for pre-release employment counseling. This is • a topic, I think, that needs some considerable attention. I 

might underscore the word considerable. 

It is our understanding also that the Department of ,.., • Corrections has provided physicians with information on Agent 

Orange; and that the correctional institutions have established 

procedures for examining veterans who have concerns regarding 

• exposure to Agent Orange. 

Our department is very active in that program. And I 

recently was able to conclude, with the Veterans' Administration, 

• a pilot project to do special examinations on a fee-for-service 
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basis, which would provide Vietnam vet doctors to take a look at 

the Agent Orange problem and other concerns of the Viet vets, as 

well as all era veterans. I think this is a big step in terms of 

our needs and what we're doing. 

We would finally suggest -- as did the previous speaker, 

and through our own work in the veteran community -- that the 

areas most frequently identified as needs of the incarcerated 

veteran population are as I have discussed. And that we should 

improve the data collection as much as possible. We should seek 

other departments within the state to assist; as well as to 

employ psychological counseling where possible, and pre-release 

employment counseling, everywhere possible. 

While we do not have any recommendations for specific 

legislation today, we want to assure you that we at the depart-

ment will continue to work closely with the Department of Correc-

tions, the VA, with community veterans groups, with your 

comn1ittee, and with all other veterans organizations, to continue 

to do what we can. 

We thank you for allowing us to make this presentation 

on behalf of the Department of Veterans' Affairs. 
~., 

And I would simply add this one point: that '\tole are also 

seeking a comrrlunications network arrangement through the CVSO's 

in this state, which includes some 50 special officers in all the 

counties. We have tightened up our relationship 'tvi th them. We 

work on a day-to-day basis. I recently appointed a full-time 

individual to work in the field with all the CVSO's, with all 

department commanders. And I believe we do have a rather close 
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contact with this committee from time-to-time. Hopefully more 

so. 

Thank you. That's my report. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Thank you. And thank Mr. Mendez. He 

has been extremely helpful, since he's become director, in work-

ing with us. I don't know whether it's a happy situation for him 

all the time, but tell him -- you can tell him we didn't beat you 

up. This time you got an easy one. 

DR. HERRERA: Thank you very much. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: The Honorable Duane Martin. Martin is 

a judge, San Joaquin County Superior Court, who has had -- I can 

speak with some experience over the last couple of years -- some 

great interest with particular cases dealing with Vietnam vets. 

JUDGE DUANE MARTIN: Mr. Chairman and members of the 

committee, I might say that what I'm going to state here is prob-

ably more emotional about the problem than practical. 

I appreciate the opportunity to appear before you and 

tell you about a most unusual combat veteran of Vietnam, whom I 

sent to prison. I have attempted every since to get proper psy-

chological help for him, ~~d a more humane place of confinement. 

His case was the impetus for the enactment of §1170.8 of the 

California Penal Code. 

He is Robert Tenente, who was honorably discharged from 

the Marine Corp, with a 30% permanent disability caused by combat 

wounds. Robert enlisted in the Marines from Lodi, California. 

At age 18 he was seriously wounded in Vietnam. The wounds were 

to his left hand and left leg. He was evacuated to Japan for 

hospitalization. After recovery, he was returned to combat. 
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Approximately five months later, shortly after his nine-

teenth birthday, while on patrol he was again wounded. These 

were shrapnel wounds to his face, particularly his eyes, and 

body. Because of the seriousness of his wounds, Robert was sent 

to Oak Knoll Naval Hospital in Oakland . 

• Robert left Oak Knoll Naval Hospital with the loss of 

his right eye~ and with a morphine addiction. He had acquired 

the addiction from the liberal administration of morphine-based 

drugs given him to alleviate his severe pain. 

After his discharge, Robert was unable to cope with the 

extreme problems caused by his wounds, his physical addiction, 

and the psychological turmoil created within him. Seven times 

Robert went to the VA hospital seeking help for his addiction. 

Unfortunately, the only programs available were of no help, as 

Robert's problems were not those of the typical drug addict. His 

addiction was much deeper, and connected to his wounds, the loss 

of his eye, and the whole Vietnam experience. 

Because no meaningful help was available, Robert's phys-

ical addiction and emotional difficulties led him into forging 

prescriptions for drugs. Eventually he was sent to prison for 

such forgery, in 1977. After his release, Robert and another 

subject conmlitted an armed robbery of a pharmacy, robbing the 

store of its restricted drugs and money. 

It was this robbery that brought Robert before me. He 

readily admitted his guilt and pleaded guilty. Since the viola-

tion was armed robbery with a prior felony, and the use of a gun, 

Ie 
I 

I 
I sent him to prison. I also immediately contacted all the fed-
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eral officials, from the President, senators, congressmen, to the 

Commcndant of the Marine Corp, seeking a federal program as an 

alternative to Robert's state prison incarceration. 

The letter I sent reads as follows: 

"I am a Superior Court Judge in stockton, Califor
nia, who recently sentenced a young man to state prison 
for six years. You are probably wondering why I'm writ
ing to tell you this, as there is nothing new about 
another man being sent to prison. But there is a very 
compelling reason why I'm writing. 

HThe young man is Corporal Robert C. Tenente, who 
is medically retired from the United states Marine Corp, 
and is medically retired because he lost an eye in com
bat in Vietnam. 

"Prior to losing his eye, he suffered a serious leg 
wound. Rebert received, among other citations, a Viet
nam Combat Action Ribbon, the Vietnam Campaign Medal, 
and the Purple Heart with Gold Star. 

"Robert is also a heroin and dilaudid addict. He 
was not one before being called to serve; and he was not 
one by design. He came out of the hospitalization for 
his wounds an addict. 

"Robert \vas treated at least seven times in a 
veterans' hospital for his addiction, all to no avail. 
But that is the thrust of my letter. 

"Why did I send Robert to prison? Robert committed 
the robbery of a pharmacy, using a gun. He had already 
served one prison sentence for forging a prescription to 
obtain drugs in 1977. This was after several other drug 
convictions. The robbery was to get restricted drugs. 

"I feel that Robert never should have been placed 
in the position of a drug addict, forced to steal, rob 
and forge for his habit. He got this monkey on his back 
after losing his eye, and getting in return, pain, suf
fering and psychological problems. 

"Yes, the Veterans' Administration offered Robert 
treatment several times. But no one got to his prob
lem. No one fully comprehended the depths of his needs. 
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III do not know what should be, or can be done for 
Robert. I'm not a psychiatrist or a specialist in 
addiction treatment. But I do know that it is a dis
grace that this young man, and probably thousands like 
him, who was willing to give his life for his country, 
and did give his eye, is now wasting away in prison with 
all the scum of society. 

"His real crime was that he could not handle the 
extreme problems his wounds brought him. If I were the 
Commandant of the Marine Corp, hell would freeze over 
before a young Marine like Robert, who fought willingly 
and bravely and made the sacrifices he did, would wallow 
away in prison. I would see that he got the help he 
needs, no matter what. 

IIHad he been left on the battlefield wounded, the 
Corp would have done all within its power to bring him 
to safety. Today he is in a worse condition, and no one 
gives a hoot for him. 

"Having used a gun to get the drugs, it was manda
tory that I send Robert to prison. But if there were an 
alternative compulsory and meaningful program enacted by 
Congress or Presidential Decree, I would recall him and 
resentence him. 

"But that time to act expires in approximately 45 
days. If congressional or presidential action is a real 
possibility, I am also willing to recall Robert, and 
wait for a reasonable period to resentence him to such a 
program. Such a program would not be just for Robert, 
but for all Vietnam veterans in his position, which I am 
afraid are many. 

"I know that one can rationalize that seven times 
was enough chance to rehabilitate Robert. But one fact 
stands out. Robert was not an addict before being 
wounded in action. His criminality now is driven by a 
psychological drive for drugs that h&~annot control. 

"He gave his eye for his country and received an 
addiction in return. He cries for help. His cries for 
help have finally been answered by six years in prison. 

"Is Robert to rot away in prison, and face a life 
of addiction? Any hope is up to the country he served. 
I hope you will do all possible to say to Robert, and 
those like him, 'your sacrifice is not forgotten, or in 
vain. ' 
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I received an answer back from Senator Alan Cranston, 

which was typical of the response that I did receive. It is a 

follows: 

"I deeply regret that it appears the VA was unable 
to locate an alternative treatment approach that could 
perhaps benefit Mr. Tenente. 

"The only available option, unless California 
officials would be willing and able to transport Mr. 
Tenente to and from a VA facility and provide any neces
sary custodial restraint for him while he's at the VA 
facility, seems to be for him to participate in a state
run prison drug treatment program. 

While contacting these federal o~ficials, I was able to 

get California State Assemblyman Patrick Johnston to introduce 

and eventually get enacted §1170.8 to the California Penal Code, 

which so far, as to a transfer to a federal institution, has been 

a hope wjthout substance, both for the Vietnam defendant and the 

courts. 

The only program offered as a result of my writing was a 

six-month voluntary live-in counseling program at Palo Alto VA 

Hospital. Even though this was a voluntary, not a confinement 

situation, I brought Robert to my court from the Deuel Vocational 

Insti~~~ion, the prison near Tracy, where he was serving his 

sentence, and asked him if he would stay in the voluntary program 

if 1 released him from DVI and sent him to the VA hospital. 

Robert looked at me and said: "If I were you, Judge, I 

would not send me." When I asked him why, he said he would not 

stay. After recovering from my shock from hearing such candor, I 

asked him why he would not stay. His response, he responded that 
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he was not a hypocrite or a con artist, which he said were those 

who made up such programs. I then asked him what was his prob-

lem, and what kind of help did he need. He answered that if he 

knew those answers, he would not be in front of me in shackles. 

To say the least, I was taken aback; since, had I made a 

similar offer to any other prison inmate at any prison, I would 

have received a quick promise of success if I would give the 

release. Therefore, I felt more compel~ed than ever to see if I 

could get Robert the help he needed. 

First, I needed to know what help he needed, so with his 

ccoperation, I had hi~ examined by a court appointed psychia-

~rlst. The ~sychiatrist reported that Robert was in need of 

intensive and extensive one-on-one psychiatric counseling. 

Though there was a great need for one-on-one psychiatric counsel-

ing for Rebert, there were, ar.d still are no such programs avail-

able. So I could do nothing for Robert, and he continued to 

waste away in DVI. 

La~er, he was transferred, for disciplinary reaSOLS, to 

San Quentin Prison, where he now languishes. But even the~e his 

ur.usual qualities surfaced. I was going to recall him, reduce 

h~s sentence, and release him. And last summer I wrote to the 

Ihrector cf Corrections, expressing my desire to do so. This is 

a signlficant portion of the response I received from the Warden 

0f San Quentin: He says, he, Robert, "indicated that he was not 

ready to return to society, and a release at this tiree would be a 

disservice to himself and the community." He incicated that, 

"all the programs in the world would not help anyone's drug prob-
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lem. They had to do it themselves." He indicates he has 

resolved his drug problem, but that "his head is still not 

right." When told of your request, he stated his recommendation 

would be, "No. Possibly in another eight months." 

Unfortunately, I have not been able to utilize §1170.8 

in any way in Robert's behalf; nor has any other judge utilized 

this section for any other Vietnam veteran who has come within 

the Criminal Justice System, so far as I know. The reason for 

this failure is that, to my knowledge, there are no federal 

facilities or programs that a court can utilize in sentencing. 

The Department of Corrections can, and I am told does, 

work with Vet Centers and counseling programs to provide some 

specialized aid to prisoners who meet the definition of §ll70.8. 

In fact, Mike Miracle, Master of Social Work, Fresno Vets' Cen-

ter, visited with Robert while he was at DVI. 

If facilities and programs become available for §1170.8 

prisoners at the court level, judges must be educated to their 

availability. This could be best done through the California 

Judges' Educational Research Organization, once there is such 

enactment. 

The question has been asked by your committee, "what can 

the state do to help the Criminal Justice System deal with Viet-

nam veterans who suffer from Post-Traumatic Stress Syndrome?" or 

other war problems, such as Robert. Well, I have no expertise in 

~his area, and I really don't have any pearls of wisdom in this 

area. But I do feel that a program is needed that is geared to 

the Vietnam veteran and his unique! but real, psychological 

problems that may involve him in the Criminal Justice System. 
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The government needs to establish centers where such men 

can be safely confined, while receiving the necessary counseling 

that is so desperately needed. Any program needs input from the 

Vet Centers, of which I'm sure you are already aware. Then 

§1170.8 will be more than an empty hope. 

What they do not deserve is the type of confinement 

Robert Tenente has and is enduring for psychological problems he 

sustained as a result of severe combat wounds in Vietnam. Had he 

and those like him still been suffering from physical wounds, the 

government would have provided the necessary care and treatment. 

yet his and their psychological wounds are no less real, no less 

service-caused, and certainly no less in need of treatment. 

So far, men like Robert Tenente have never really come 

horne from Vietnam. And many are worse off than when they ,,,,ere 

there. 

Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Thank you, your Honor. 

Do you have any questions, Mr. Hannigan? 

We appreciate, and we've been watching your activities 

on this case. I think it's really exceptional, and I just wish 

that your kind of activity would be included with all the fervor 

that goes out with the evils of the court and the soft toned 

judges and all this sort of thing. It's not there, but we 

appreciate it. And I'm certain the people in your community do, 

Judge. 

JUDGE MARTIN: Thank you very much. 
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CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Thank you. Do we have a copy of the 

Judge's statement? Your Honor, may we have a copy of this state-

ment? 

JUDGE MARTIN: Yes. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Mr. Hannigan would like that. 

Mr. Barry Levin. Mr. Levin's an attorney, Vietnam Vet-

erans' Legal Defense Team in Los Angeles. It would have helped 

to have had more judges like His Honor, wouldn't it, Barry? 

MR. BARRY LEVIN: Absolutely. But you know it's my job 

to see to it that no Vietnam veteran ever gets sentenced by a 

judge in a criminal matter. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: We're aware of that. Or anybody else. 

MR. LEVIN: Well, I've been listening really intently to 

Mr. Pentland and to the Judge. And I find that one of the most 

difficult jobs that I have as a defense attorney in dealing with 

Vietnam veterans is bringing to the Criminal Justice System the 

awareness of the problems of the Vietnam veteran; trying to get 

the system, the Criminal Justice System, to slow down for just a 

moment instead of dealing with this mass-production of human 

misery; to stop for a moment, reflect on the individual's problem 

and then try to deal with that problem so that it suits the need 

of the individual. 

I believe I have sort of a very unique perspective on 

the problem of the Vietnam veteran: 

When I was 18 years old, four days after graduating high 

school, I, like many other counterparts, enlisted in the United 

States Army. And even though Bruce Pentland won't admit it in 

public, he, like me, was a paratrooper. 
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We went -- we didn't go together to jump school, but 

after completing jump school, I was sent to Vietnam with the 1st 

Airborne Battalion of the 1st Cavalry Division. In a year in 

combat, I was wounded twice my first tour; returned to the 

states, where I was very happy figuring the only way that I 

was going to get hurt again would be to be run over by a truck in 

the street. Until 1968, about six months before my term of ser-

vice expired, the Tet Offensive hit, and President Johnson imme-

diately called for all available corobat troops to go back to 

Vietnam. I was one of those troops. 

I was promoted to a staff sergeant, which was the quid 

pro quo for going back to the service. I lasted 28 days, and got 

shot twice with a machine-gun, returned back to the States; after 

doing my time in the hospital, expiring a little bit over my time 

of service, and was released. 

I found that I had tremendous problems in dealing with 

not only the way I felt about my Vietnam service, but with the 

way society perceived me. And I know you've heard it all. It's 

all been said, not once, but a million times. But from a person-

al perspective, I did have tremendous difficulty. 

Fortunately for myself, I gravitated to police work. I 

found that the quasi-military atmosphere sort of medicated the 

problems that I had. I was able to carry a gun. Many Vietnam 

veterans were police officers; and I joined the Los Angeles 

Police Department, and found a lot of conventional "rap" groups 

going on in the police car eight hours a day. 
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• 
But I went to school. And 10 years later, when I final-

ly obtained my law degree and passed the Bar, I resigned from the 

• police department, became a prosecutor for a very short time, and 

then went out to private practice to try to make as much money as 

I could, for the first time in my life; to find some peace and to 

• get on with what I considered to be important; to become a capi-

talist in our society. 

~'Vhen I got out, I found out that there were some real 

• problems. I couldn't turn my back on my brother Vietnam veterans 

who were out there struggling, trying to, somehow, adjust to 

society, only to find out that they were ending up in prison. I 

• would end up getting calls, through a circle of friends. People 

knew who I was, and they would tell me about certain cases that 

came up. • One of those cases was an individual in Louisiana, 

Albert Dobbs, who was doing a state prison term, 7-1/2 years for 

attempted armed robbery. It was his first conviction. He served • with the 101st Airborne Division; and his commanding officer was 

Charlie Beckwith. Albert's case was featured on television and 

people called me about it and asked me i~ there was something I -., .... 

• could do. 

I went back to Louisiana; I interviewed Albert; I got 

permission from the Louisiana state Court to practice before the • judge in that case; and I put on a Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder 

hearing, calling expert witnesses from around the country. Even 

people from the prison actually showed up to talk about Albert's • behavior while in prison as being exemplary. 
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The judge modified his sentence under a very -- it was 

an unused Louisiana law, but he applied it to the situation, and 

• released Albert to me to take him back to Los Angeles, where he 

got a job and participated in the Vet Center's program. 

Unfortunately, that's about the only happy ending I ever 

heard for a Vietnam veteran since. I get calls when it's usually 

too late. The Vietnam veteran has come through the Criminal 

Justice System; his attorney, like most attorneys who are not 

aware of the effect of the Vietnam war combat experience on the 

Vietnam veteran, never attempts to try to use it in a criminal 

trial. And the result is the Vietnam veteran, who's the worst 

person to tell his attorney of his problem, walks into court and 

is usually convinced, with the speed of the Criminal Justice 

System, to take a plea and go to state prison and do his time. 

Most Vietnam veterans plead guilty without a trial. I 

don't know if you're aware of that. But most of them do. And 

most of their attorneys don't even know theytre vietnam veterans. 

And most of them, because they're committing violent crimes, are 

going to end up getting greater prison sentences than their coun-

terparts who are not Vietnam ve~e~~ns. 

And a lot of times, attitude has a lot to do with it 

also. When they appear before the court, the manner that they 

dress, the manner that they talk, the manner they deal with the 

Probation Department, all has a factor on the ultimate sentence 

they receive. They get sentences, and then I get calls. 

What can you do? Try to get them out. I've got a case 

coming up in Oakland on Monday with a Vietnam veteran who has 
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been sentenced. I've a very sympathetic judge; but a very weak 

judge. Unfortunately, they're not all like Judge Martin, who's a 

very strong judge; a very good man who's willing to use the power 

of his office to try to do some good. 

I believe he's correct about 1170.8. I think it's a 

useless piece of legislation that does absolutely nothing but 

give hope to people who, basically, can seek no relief from it. 

The very first thing that I would recommend about 1170.8 would 

be, perhaps, to get the words "federal" out of it. It scares 

people. 

State court judges have absolutely no control over what 

a federal institution can do. I've made numerous calls to feder-

al institutions calling 'I'erminal Island, and Leavenworth --

and asking them if there was any possibility of utilizing 1170.8. 

It's always the same, that they're just as crowded as the state 

institutions. 

Well, we have state institutions now -- and Mr. Floyd, I 

was with you at Tehachapi several months ago -- We have 

institutions right now, like at CRC; programs at Tehachapi and 

Chino, that can deal with Vietnam veterans .•. 

CHAlru~N FLOYD: I would like to point out too, Counsel

or, that that was -- When the bill was going, this very same 

problem was brought up. In fact, I had quite an argument with 

the author of the bill. But you have to recognize that we in the 

Legislature have a tendency to the lip service thing. It sounds 

good, looks good; we're doing our bit -- even though it was 

pointed out to the author of the bill, in particular, and every-
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body with the bill, that it wasn't going to do a Goddamned thing. 

But it's the name of the game. I don't think that anybody 

involved with it really expected it to do anything. 

Maybe they hoped that the powers that be in Washington 

would say, "Oh, California wants something like this, so let's 

provide the service for them." 

I just want to go on record that some of us knew damned 

well that it was like many other measures enacted into law: 

looked good, felt good, election year; you know, there might be 

some damned Vietnam vets that vote, so Anyway •.. 

MR. LEVIN: Unfortunately, it caused a furor in the 

Criminal Justice System. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Yes, I know. 

MR. LEVIN: And it caused a lot of people who felt that 

they were without hope to now find a section in the Penal Code 

that might give them some relief. It did more harm than it did 

good. 

I have always felt, in trying to talk to people about 

1170.8, including judges, that it was the legislative intent 

behind 1170.8 to provide some relief for the incarcerated Vietnam 

veteran who is in prison because of his Vietnam service experi-

ence. That's the intent behind it. 

Then, why can't the court direct him to an institution 

like CRe, or to Tehachapi, where there might be an on-site pro-

gram. I don't know how to deal with these things. My goals are 

different. 
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My goal \llaS to try to convince twelve people in a jury 

box that the individual is not guilty by reason of insanity, 

pursuant to the diagnostic and statistical manual study on Post-

Traumatic Stress Disorder. But you can't do that on a drunk 

driving case. You can't do that on an assault case. It works on 

muroer cases sometimes, but the balancing is tremendously great. 

On one end he's looking at 25 to life, or possibly the death 

penalty; the other, if you win, he walks out of the courthouse. 

What do you do with the hundreds of Vietnam veterans 

that come before the Criminal Justice System because they have a 

drug or an alcohol problem, and they're doing life, three days at 

a time? They're going to county jail for a weeki they're going 

to county jail for six months; they're coming out. They're not 

spending much time on the street; then they're going back in 

again. It's just this revolving door. 

And I saw it as a police officer. I used to take Viet-

nam veterans and drop them off at the VA and no't even take them 

to jail. I was, you know, terribly discriminatory. Probably, 

you know, not vJ'ithin the best traditions of the Los Angeles 

Police Department. But that's the way it was, because I recog-

nized -- because I was on the street dealing with the people --

what was going to happen with them; why the Vietnam veteran was 

there; why he was medicating his problems. 

And if there's going to be any legislation that is 

directed at helping Vietnam veterans -- It's good if you can help 

them; it's good if you can put programs in state prison. And 

like Bruce points out, you know, there is a captive audience. 

They have to be in state prison. Let's make them go to programs. 
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But that's surely not going to help those people who are 

doing less time in the county jail systems that are just going in 

and out and in and out. They have four and five page rap sheets. 

Those people need prison alternatives. They need jail alterna

tives. 

And there's a lot of alternatives to county jail avail

able at the present time. The problem is that the courts don't 

want to recognize it. I come in and, you know, almost once a 

week, I'm down at a court trying to get a Vietnam veteran com

mitted to a program in the Veterans' Administration in lieu of 

doing time in county jail. Sometimes the judge says yes; some

times they say no. 

I've taken Vietnam veterans before a court and told the 

judge that they at least need me to present their case, would the 

county appoint me as their attorney? They've said, "No, we can't 

do that. We have to deal with our regular Bar Association attor

neys here." And I will end up representing the individual pro 

bono, which left me in the position where I am now; trying to 

start my own foundation. 

In fact, Brian Brath is present with me today. He's the 

President of Vietnam Veterans' Legal Defense Team, where we hope 

to be able to solicit public funds, target useful cases, meaning

ful cases, and provide some relief '::0 Vietnam veterans. Because 

they're not getting it today. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Tough way to become a capitalist. 

l'1R. LEVIN: It's allover. My fate is sealed. 
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• 
But, you know, I might not understand exactly what the 

goals of this committee are. If this committee is intent on 

helping Vietnam veterans, I do believe that it's going to take a • 
lot more than coming up with a piece of legislation that doesn't 

have any meaning in the Penal Code. The courts don't know how to 

• deal with it. The attorneys don't know how to deal with it. 

I could probably speak all around California every day, 

trying to explain to people what 1170.8 is. In fact, it was 

• Judge Martin, not the defense attorney, that came up with 1170.8. 

In the case I'm going to in Oakland, it was the judge flipping 

through the Penal Code, seeing 1170.8, calling the defense attor-

• ney in and asking him, what kind of relief is there currently 

available to this veteran under this section. So, you know, 

there's a lot of that ... 

• CHAIRMAN FLOYD: An act of frustration from the judge, 

Barry. He didn't know what the hell to do. He thought that we'd 

come in and maybe do something. 

• And this is a frustrating committee, because we are 

strictly a state operation. Most people consider the real res-

ponsibility to be federal. We have some minor successes. It 

• sure as hell ain't enough, and one of the purposes of the hearing 

is to see --

And we know that the section doesn't do it. It was not 

• an outgrowth Like you say, it was the judge's reaching for 

something in frustration; it was not felt in this committee. 

MR. LEVIN: Exactly. And you know, I look at the com-

• mittee -- and I looked at your letterhead, and I saw you have ten 

members -- and I see two here. 
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I don't understand, either, what the purpose of your 

committee is. How is it that you want to help Vietnam veterans? 

There are a lot of people out there that are willing to 

help. They're willing to do something about it, but we can't do 

it by ourselves. We cannot go out to the Criminal Justice System 

and be spokesmen and say, "This is what you ought to be doing." 

We need help from the Legislature. We need backup. 

Anything on the books that's meaningful, even a resolution, that 

comes out and speaks of your legislative intent supporting 

1170.8; so that I can go before a judge and argue that although 

the law might not have the effect that you want it to have, this 

was the purpose of the statute. 

Let's create a little state 1170.8. Let me tell you 

that this is what the Legislature had in mind for this exact 

person; for the persons before you now. This is the meaning 

behind 1170.8; and I will develop a program to meet within the 

legislative intent, because that's what the courts are supposed 

to be doing. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Good. Lay that out with Michael. 

We'll introduce it and we'll roll it. Maybe we can make the 

thing go somewhere. 

I agree with you: when it says "federal," boom, it ain't 

our game. 

Go ahead. 

CO~lliITTEE CONSULTANT MICHAEL LEAVECK: Barry, in answer 

to some of your questions, and I share your frustration, when 

1170.8 was in bill form, AB 2989, Dick Floyd was the first person 
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on our committee to hear about it. It came before -- was it Ways 

and Means? 

CHAI~ffiN FLOYD: I don't know. 

MR. LEAVECK: Or criminal Justice Committee? One of the 

two. 

UNIDENTIFIED: Crim Jus,tice. 

MR. LEAVECK: Crim Justice. Dick jumped on it and said, 

"This is another way of just shuffling off Vietnam vets as a 

federal responsibility." As we knOvl now, the judge's intention 

was nothing of that kind. 

However, there were some dangerous aspects of AB 2989, 

in its form at that time. We were able to amend it to include 

Post-Traumatic Stress. It at first only included drug and alco

hol problems. We were also able to amend in the requirement that 

the veteran had to agree to the transfer; and the requirement 

that the programs be available. We didn't want some other judges 

who were not at as well-intent.ioned as Judge Martin to be able to 

use 1170.0, or AB 2989, as a way of just throwing Vietnam veter

ans onto the federal system. 

I think the most important aspect of AB 2989 was the 

second section, which declared the Legislature's intent that 

there be cooperative relationships between the state Department 

of Corrections and community based organizations, VA Vet Centers, 

etc. And as a result of the inclusion of that section -- and I 

think Rob Boraskin from the Department of Veterans' Affairs will 

bear me out -- the California Department of Corrections has been 

a lot more receptive since the passage of AB 2989 to those coop-

erative arrangements. 
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And I think a lot was accomplished on a purely adminis-

trative basis from the existence of the bill. The section of the 

bill that is now 1170.8, I agree with you. I probably still get 

one or two calls a week on 1170.8 from defense attorneys, from 

judges, from veterans, from wives of veterans and families of 

veterans, saying, "How can I use this bill to help the Vietnam 

veteran?" And the answer is, unless the federal government, 

under that section of AB 2989, unless the federal government 

provides a program of one-on-one, intensive counseling and thera-

py, there's nothing that can be done. 

MR. LEVIN: What I've seen, Michael, is basically, there 

are two situations dealing with the veterans' issues: One is 

apathy; and the other is exploitation. 

I have not yet seen anything done to help Vietnam veter-

ans. It's a popular issue. A lot of people like to hang their 

hats on it and say, "I'm going to help. I'm going to do some-

thing. II And when it actually comes time to do something, you saw 

the frustration of a Superior Court Judge, for God sake, who had 

the power to do something and found himself powerless because he 

didn't have the tools available to him. And all he needed was a 

legislative enactment that allowed him to do something. 

He had to send Tenente to state prison because of the 

"Use a Gun, Go to Prison" law. That's a legislative creation 

that sends all people, regardless of any of the available circum-

stances, pursuant to People v. Tanner. They're going to state 

prison without passing IIGO." It doesn't matter what they do. If 

a Vietnam veteran has every equity on his side, and he picks up a 
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gun and commits a crime with a gun, unless he's acquitted based 

on insanity, he's going to state prison. 

And I just feel frustrated because I, like Judge Martin, 

find that when I'm confronted with the real situation of really 

trying to help the individual Vietnam veteran who's facing incar

ceration, or is incarcerated, there is absolutely nothing that 

separates the Vietnam veteran in prison from the non-Vietnam 

veteran in prison. 

And if the Vietnam veteran in prison is in there because 

it's related to his experience -- from war and from combat -

then I think this country should do something about it. The 

Legislature should do something about it. And perhaps it does 

start here. 1170.8: it's nice; it looks good on the books; but 

it's not doing anything. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Well, we're going to work with you to 

see what avenues we can go to do something like that. And that's 

why we start with a hearing like this. To my knowledge, there's 

never been a hearing on incarcerated veterans. 

MR. LEVIN: Well, thank you very much for giving me the 

opportunity to testify here. I appreciate it. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Thank you. 

Mr. Allen Perkal. Per-cal (phonetic). I always screw 

that up. Allen is the Team Leader of the Veterans' Administra

tion Outreach Center in Oakland. AI. Okay, roll! 

MR. ALLEN PERKAL: Okay, first of all, I'd like to thank 

Mike Leaveck for inviting me here today. 
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And I would like to say that something is being done; 

and I'm part of what's being done, in terms of offering services 

to incarcerated Vietnam veterans at Vacaville Medical Facility 

and San Quentin. 

Mr. Chairman and members of this committee, it is part 

of my outreach efforts to sensitize and educate incarcerated 

Vietnam era veterans through the services of the Vet Centers, so 

that on release they might avail themselves of the Vet Centers' 

services. 

Part of this outreach effort -- what we see inside the 

prisons -- is the need for readjustment counseling; the need of 

these Vietnam veterans to work through their war-related trauma. 

What we've been able to put together is rap groups in Vacaville 

Medical Facility. And they are working. 

They're \vorking because we were able to establish a 

trust with those veterans. And trust is a really important con-

cept for Vietnam veterans. And it's taken a lot of hard work to 

establish that. 

We've been able to have a sense of confidentiality exist 

within that group; whereby, whatever is discussed in that group 

can stay in that group so that people can be able to talk about 

the things that really hurt them inside. 

It is successful because the group inside of Vacaville 

has been able to put on services for the other inmates. Trey had 

a picture-taking project, where they were able to bring in an 

outside photographer to do snapshots for the incarcerated veter-

ans in the prison. Also~ last Thursday, I might add, they had a 

- 59 -



Thanksgiving Party -- dinner. And they had 140 veterans attend 

that. 

And I might add that most likely about 130 of them were 

probably Vietnam era vets. That's quite a number of veterans 

attending; and most likely, that's just the tip of the number of 

Vietnam veterans that probably are in Vacaville Medical Facility. 

In terms of San Quentin, it's been difficult to provide 

the services in San Quentin because of the nature of the institu

tion. What we've been able to do is reach the veterans on a 

one-to-one basis. And in that way, we're able to help deal with 

their incarceration; help them work through their Vietnam-related 

stress. But we've been unable to put them together in a group 

where they can establish the camaraderie and trust and work 

through their problems together. 

We've gotten support from the ex-Superintendent at San 

Quentin, Reginald Pulley. And I guess in one way he felt that by 

us corning in there, we might be able to reduce the stress level 

that exists in the prison. 

I also might add that we got the support of the 

Vr.caville Medical Facility. One concern there was the duplicity 

of services. And I thi.nk, after we went in there, we shO'tlTed them 

that what we knew, in terms of readjustment counseling, could be 

productive in terms of helping them to deal with the population 

there. 

I, too, ngree that Vietnam veterans have a high rehabil

itative potential, especially if they are allowed the opportunity 

to work through the Vietnam-related stress. What I have found is 
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that a lot of Vietnam veterans, especially inside Vacaville Medi-

cal F'acili ty, had no difficulty with the law prior to the Vietnam 

experience. 

What I've also found is that a lot of Vietnam veterans, 

in their corr~ission of the crime, have used the same tactics that 

they used in Vietnam, which shows me a conditioning that hasn't 

been de-conditioned. And I think that's part of the problem. 

It's not a delayed stress syndrome; it's a delayed treatment 

syndrome. 

One of the other thing"s that I think that this committee 

should know about is that there are a lot of Vietnam veterans 

who, upon discharge from the service, like Barry Levin, decided 

that they wanted to be p~rt of a job that would give them sort of 

the adrenaline pump that they had in Vietnam. And they decided 

to apply to be correctional officers. And I was called by an 

individual at San Quentin, stating that they had a problem with 

the correctional officers who were vietnam veterans at San 

Quentin. They were having stress related disorders when it was 

during the rainy season. They were starting to have flashbacks. 

Some of them were on the gun rack shooting off birdshot. And 

they were having difficulties, and somehow recalling Vietnam, 

obviously. 

What I found there also is that a lot of them are, as 

has been mentioned before, self-medicating themselves. Obvious-

ly, we know that San Quentin, especially, is a very stressed 

community. And it's difficult for these individuals to work in 

that type of environment. So after we discovered the nature of 

the problem, what we decided to do was outreach. 
- 61 -



And we set up a Vietnam Veterans' Affairs for correc

tional officers at San Quentin. We came in there, provided 

information, talked about Agent Orange physicals; and actually 

stood outside the gate, about 2:00 when they were getting off 

duty, and became sales people. We were handing paper out and 

just saying, "I remember you from Vietnam." And we ble\'l them 

away. They didn't know. They'd say, "How do you know I was in 

Vietnam?" 

Well, we must have gotten about a hundred names. So 

obviously, the problem doesn't just exist with the veterans 

inside -- the incarcerated vets. The problem also exists with 

the correctional officers. And I think part of helping the vet

erans inside is helping the correctional officers, who deal with 

them on a daily basis, who can really be helpful. And that's 

been proven out at Vacaville, because a few of the veteran cor

rectional officers have helped in some of these -- like this 

party we had -- offering their services. 

In talking with Mike Leaveck, this 1170.8 is useless, in 

terms of the federal application of it. But I think it can be 

very helpful, in terms of the state appli.cation, throughout the 

Department of Corrections in this sta'te. I know, in Northern 

California, you know, that we're involved in this at two institu

tions, and part of what we want to see is, you know, to lower the 

rate of recidivism. And we really encourage the veterans with 

that; that there is a support network; and to make theInselves 

available to that support network; that they're not alone with 

this problem. 
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I would like to have more support in doing this work. I 

felt that we had to fight real hard to get in there. I think 

maybe it shouldn't be one group of people fighting to get into 

one place. It should be sort of mandated; and then it would make 

it easier for other agencies and community based organizations to 

get in. 

I feel, in terms of the services we provide, the rap 

group seems to be the most effective modality to help deal with 

the problems. Contrary to belief, a lot of these individuals are 

able to talk about their innermost feelings. They are not ruth-

less human beings. There's alwe.ys the question of, "Why am I 

here, and why are you on the outside?" There's that question of 

what did it take? 

They're encouraged by the fact that there are people who 

are coming in to the prisons and providing services for them. 

And they'd like to see that continue. They feel that they're not 

forgotten now, because there are people coming in who care and 

have understanding of the nature of their problem. 

That's sort of what I had to say. I will answer any 

questions that anybody has. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD~ You know I've madG trips with Bruce. 

And Michael's going to be in touch with you; I'll go in one of 

your programs too. There's something about -- you get a feeling 

that there's no more aloneness, that a man has in that situation. 

Thank you. 

MR. PEl~AL: Thank you. 
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CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Brian Augustine. Brian is a Counselor 

with the Veterans' Administration Outreach Center in Concord. 

I don't know. I think we can roll through. will you go 

to the next (inaudible)? Allen. 

HR. PERKAL: Yes? 

CHAIRHAH FLOYD: Let's put it 'together with Mike. 

Hannigan will go with us too. We'll go in there and •.. 

HR. PERKAL: (inaudible) 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Yes, to Vacaville. One of your 

Vacaville programs. 

I always volunteer for these, and a week or so before I 

start, I'm asking what the hell I'm doing this for again. And 

driving out to the place I'm kicking myself. Once I get in, then 

I feel there's I've always felt something positive with 

Bruce's programs. And it just so happens that people in prison, 

like people throughout the state, very rarely meet somebody 

who IS, you kno\v, a member of the Legislature. I mean, Big Damn 

Deal; but it's amazing. And we'd like to go with you on one of 

your programs -- you set it up -- both Hannigan and I. 

MR. PERKAL: Yes, I think they would take well to the 

visit. 

CHAIRV~N FLOYD: Yes, they do in the other facilities. 

Particularly Mr. Hannigan -- That's his district right there, so 

Mike will be in touch with you, Allen. 

MR. BRIAN AUGUSTINE: I want to thank Mike Leaveck for 

inviting me today ~ . . 
CHAIPJ..1AN FLOYD: I'm sorry, Brian. 
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• 
MR. AUGUSTINE: Okay, I want to thank Mike Leaveck for 

• inviting me today. And basically, I was asked to describe the 

services that we offer from our Vet Center to the incarcerated 

vets in Contra Costa County. 

• I don't work in the prison system. I basically work 

through the county system. In a sense I can concur a lot with 

what Mike Levin says. In the past year that I've been working in :. the Contra Costa County jail system, I've seen 73 Vietnam vets, 

and 29 others that were involved with the system awaiting trial. 

Basically the services I offer are in three areas: 

Pre-release counseling. In other words, hooking the 

veteran up with whatever benefits he can get; the Voc Rehabilita-

tion program upon release; whatever other programs that are 

available for him. 

Diversion is another issue that I deal with quite exten-

sively. As I said, I saw 73 veterans. Three of those were mur-

~. der cases; and another 10 were violent crimes. So the vast 

majority that I have seen have been primarily substance abuse. 

Although many of the ones that I saw that were involved 

in violent crimes were also involved in substance abuse. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Yes. 

MR. AUGUSTINE: One of the things that I have found is 

• that many time the substance abuse takes the form of trying to 

mask other psychological problems. They're self-medicating. And 

having worked 10 years in a drug program for veterans, of which 

• 90% were Vietnam era veterans, I found the same to be true on 

that level. 
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Unless you address the issue of Vietnam itself, and what 

that experience has done to an individual, you're not going to 

relieve the need that person feels to self-medicate. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Let me interrupt just a minute, Brian. 

In Contra Costa County the jail system is run by the sheriff 

MR. AUGUSTINE: Correct. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: What's your relationship 'tvith that 

sheriff? Is he ... 

MR. AUGUSTINE: He has been very helpful. 

CHAIRMAN FI,OYD: I found that. I carried a measure when 

all the drunk driving crap was flying through, on a work release 

thing. There's some way we can sit down with the sheriff over 

there. He and I have a good relationship; and there's some way 

we can proceed to help with that program; move it out and make it 

more ... 

MR. AUGUSTINE: In a sense •.. 

CH1~IHMAN FLOYD: a more whole program. 

MR. AUGUSTINE: In a sense I feel that the system that 

they have set up and the relationship that we have developed 

between the Vet Center and the Contra Costa County Jail is ideal. 

It could be improved, but it also could serve as a model for 

other counties .•• 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: I found that. I think we have an 

enlightened sheriff over there. In fact, I think I wish to hell 

the damn sheriff in IJ.A. were half as interested in people as 

that sheriff. And I'm glad to hear that, because everything I've 

seen with this sheriff is quite different than most sheriffs in 

the State of California. You're fortunate there. 
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MR. AUGUSTINE: Yes, I believe we are. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: And when we get a Vet Center in 

Sacramento, I think Robbie Waters will be cut from the same 

cloth. 

Go ahead. I just had an interest there. 

MR. AUGUSTINE: But anyway, I do find that I do have 

problerrls. And most of those problems aren't within the jail. 

I've worked closely with the mental health staff there; and where 

they weren't before, now they're identifying Vietnam veterans 

that come through their facility. 

The problems I'm having are on the level of attorneys 

and judges and the naivete they have about the subject of Post-

Traumatic stress. And I really feel that is an issue that might 

help facilitate implementation of any legislation that is passed. 

And in that sense, I can concur with Mr. Levin. 

I really don't have too much more to say other than 

that. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: If we rrlove, and take the opportunity we 

have, and take advantage of Judge Martin's real interest, and 

bring about You know, the judges have a continuing education; 

they have a regular situation. Could we put together a program 

from people throughout Vet Centers in California? We could, say, 

put together a 2-hour seminar. I'm quite certain, you know, 

there are some very interested judges around. 

And education of the judges -- judges, like all of us, 

need an education on what they're dealing with. And they roll 

through large numbers. But do you suppose, somehow or other, if 
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we put together an informal ad hoc group, use Barry's expertise, 

the judge's sincere interest, and Bruce's, and other people from, 

probably, Vet Centers -- I seem to feel that Vet Centers and 

community based organizations have a lot more going for them than 

any of the line bureaucrats in any governmental thing a.round here 

-- do you suppose that maybe we could put together something that 

would be a program that we could then present to the California 

Judges' Association? That we could go in and do a "No Bullshit" 

2-hour thing, and "Thi3 is what you're up against, guys; and, 

this is where we are; and, this is who you can call." Just like 

we go with a vet. You know, we go in the joint and the big thing 

we're telling people is, "Jesus Christ, the minute you get out, 

you know, kiss the wife, the girl friend, have a drink or whatev

er, and then get to your Vet Center; because that's where the 

action is. That's where your help really is." 

MR. AUGUSTINE: I feel that would be helpful, but that 

would only answer one aspect of the problem I posed. The other 

aspect is the attorneys. I don't feel the program that we have 

with Contra Costa County Jail would be as effective if it weren't 

for the active intervention of their mental health staff in iden

tifying the veterans. Therefore, they're identified to me; I can 

go in and see them; I can find out who their attorney is; I can 

contact their attorney; and therefore, we can develop cases. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Well, if we take the judges -- and we 

can start there. The most important person in an attorney's life 

is not his damn client. It's the judge. 

MR. AUGUSTINE: True. 
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CHAIRMAN FLOYD: And particularly the muni court judges 

on arraignments, as well as the superior court judges in pretrial 

situations. I think that we're sure as hell not going to go out 

and educate attorneys, but if we have a judge that looks at the 

attorney and says, "Have you .•. " -- And then maybe we can tie 

that in with a piece of legislation. The judge looks at the 

attorney, whoever he is, and says, "Have you availed yourself, 

are you aware, of what you've got here?" And then groups like 

Barry's group will help them. 

There's no way we're going to educate an attorney. 

Hell, I live with one, and no way to educate anybody. But when 

the judge suggests to the attorney that in the interest of repre

senting his client, there's something there. So I think that --

You know, one of the damnedest things about this commit-

tee is -- you, all of you, have been to I don't know how many 

hearings we've had is that it's damned frustrating because we 

knoVJ what we want to do; we know how we want to do it; but we're 

dealing with people who are unable to do it or don't have the 

tools to do it. 

And I think that, particularly over the last six or 

seven months, particularly since more young men are dying, all of 

a sudden that vet, and particularly that Vietnam vet, is somebody 

that is starting to be recognized in all areas. 

Everyone of these hearings we have, I wind up with 

about six months work for Leaveck; but I'm going to put him 

together with you, and all those of you who are interested. And 

I would suggest that what we'll do is we'll have a series of 
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meetings, if you will -- one in the Central Valley, one in the 

Bay Area, one in Los Angeles for the Southern California area -

and by pulling in all of our thoughts and resources and experi

ences, maybe we can do something that will be responsive. Like 

Bruce says, hell, we're not going to get to everybody. If we get 

to 1%, man, we're doing a hell of a job. 

MR. AUGUSTINE: But if you can identify them and the 

authorities are educated on what the problems are, I believe you 

could reach a lot more. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Just like Hannigan wanted a copy of the 

Judge's statement to mail to every judge in his area. We're 

going to mail it to every damned judge in the state. And we're 

going to elicit some response from judges. And, you know, it's 

been my experience that once you get the guy out of the robe, 

like the Judge said here, there are a lot of very human people. 

He also have vets who are 'Nam era. And I happen to have a good 

friend who's a World War II combat vet, by the name of Harry 

Shaffer, and he's just retired. And I think we're going to prob

ably put his civic activities to work. Here's a superior court 

judge retired that's got a better relationship vlith most judges 

than you or I vlill have. So we start pulling some of these 

things together. 

And I think we've got to get innovative. We can't do a 

damned thing with this Legislature. As the gentleman pointed 

out, I've got ten members on the committee. Sometimes we do a 

lot better. Usually we don't. I find the flag wavers on my 

committee are the bastards that will never attend. 
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They don't want to deal with this; they want to get out 

there and point out how they served in the National Guard .and hOYT 

they're all for more and better wars, and the honor and privilege 

of dying and getting busted up. But I can't deal with the bas-

tards because, you know, I mean, they're elected -- fool the 

people enough. 

And I have the same feeling that Barry has about them. 

Hell, they put on their campaign literature they're a member of 

this committee; therefore, every veteran or every family ought to 

think, "Gee, this guy's really interested." The guy's a bastard 

and that's all I can do with him. 

I've got one in particular that waves a flag, sat down 

at the head table at the Vietnam Veterans' Honor Leadership Din-

ner in Los Angeles, with westmorland and Veysey and Bob Hope, and 

the bastard hid out in the National Guard and U.S.C. during the 

war. But there he was at the head table. You know, in a tuxedo, 

and trying to represent the people who bled. 

I get frustrated too. But we can deal. We can work. 

And we'll use this letterhead and the power of this committee and 

the Legislature and all, and maybe accomplish something for the 

1%. That's about the best we can get. 

Go ahead. I didn't mean to blow your testimony. 

MR. AUGUSTINE: No, that's about really all I had to 
.' .• '1 

1 say. After listening to the previous testimony, I believe in a 

lot of what most everyone said here. And as I said, I feel the 

most constructive thing I could do was to come up here and 

describe my experience in the past year with Contra Costa, and 
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how that evolved, and what I feel the needs are still. And, as I 

say, the identified needs that I see in Contra Costa are not with 

the jail system but with the Judiciary and the Bar Association. 

ble) 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: We'll try and cover them both. 

You had something? 

MR. LEAVECK: I'll go home and complain about (inaudi-

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Okay. 

MR. LEAVECK: Darrel Camp's not going to be here; but 

Jim Hayes is here. He's had some experience testifying on behalf 

of the Vietnam vet (inaudible) 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: So we want to call Dr. Jim Hayes then 

is what you're saying. 

Thank you very much. We're going to be getting togeth-

ere 

Dr. Jim Hayes is the Director of Rehabilitation Servic

es, Purple Heart Rehabilitation Services, Inc. A man with some 

expertise in the area in which we are discussing. Welcome, Doc

tor. 

DR. JIM HAYES: Thank you. Welcome, or hello; something 

like that. 

I hope I have some expertise. Unfortunately, I didn't 

have tirae to prepare a statement for you; but I would like to 

make some comments. 

I'm with an organization, the Purple Heart Veterans 

Rehabilitation Services. That would suggest by its name that it 

has a great concern about veterans; but I'm not sure, to be hon-
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~----~-----~ ---~-------------

est, whether my boss is really that concerned about serving any-

body who's a veteran. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: May I interrupt just a second. I don't 

run a very organized hearing, I guess. 

Bruce, what time are you going out? 

MR. PENTLAND: 4:45. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Oh, good. 

MR. PENTLAND: The afternoon flight. 

MR. LEAVECK: They're going to have lunch with us. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Okay, good. 

MR. LEAVECK: He and Barry. 

CHAIRMAlJ FLOYD: Just wanted to make sure you didn't get 

away. 

I'm sorry, Doctor. 

DR. HAYES: No problem. 

As I said, I'm not sure at times what the concern of my 

organization is for veterans, but there are in the organization 

several of us who are deeply concerned about veterans. 

We are deeply concerned about what's going on with vet-

erans, particularly right now in the area of legal problems. 

We've got deep concerns about what the Vietnam veteran 

centers are doing; or what the Veterans' Administration Centers 

are doing may be a better way of saying it. We're not sure that 

they're any better or any worse than anybody else, but I would 

certainly hope that at some point through this process we can 

make sure that the veterans that we're talking about are getting 

the individualized, comprehensive, critical services they 

deserve. 
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As part of that whole feeling, Ird like to just talk for 

a moment about a court hearing that I've just participated in 

concerning a Marine Corp individual -- about 12 months service in 

Vietnam; a combat veteran -- charged with aggravated assault \id th 

attempt to rape; aggravated assault with attempt to murder; 

aggravated assault with attempt to do everything you can think 

of. 

We were called into the case because the Orange County 

Court had no idea what the problem with this man was, and called 

us for a diagnosis. Their Psych and Social Services called us 

for a diagnosis without even seeing the man. 

We received not less than four calls from court approved 

psychiatrists who wanted to know what this person should be diag

nosed as; who wanted information on PTSD; who wanted to know 

l,\1hether symptoms that they seemed to come up \'lith fit the crite

ria of PTSD. 

We became heavily involved because of the services being 

received by this individual at the VA Vet Center, where -- I 

hesitate to use the word where they were "stabilizing" the 

gentleman. Instead they were destroying the gentleman, to the 

point that I had to answer the question on the stand of: "The 

Viet Vet Center supposedly was providing services to this man for 

a year and a half. How come he committed this crime? And I had 

to answer that question. 

CH]I,IRMAN FIJOYD: How did you answer that, Doctor? 

DR. HAYES: Basically, by saying that the program, as I 

perceived it, and the people I knew who were running those par-
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ticular Vet Centers just had no idea what they were doing with 

this man. 

Their process was one of having a man walk through the 

front door and saying, "Were you in Vietnam, yes/no? If you were 

in Vietnam, here are the symptoms. Which ones do you have? 

Since you have symptoms, participate in our group. As part of 

the group, share these feelings, but don't expect us to help you 

deal with those feelings. Don't expect us to give you the guid-

ance and the help to deal with these problems. Let us raise the 

frustration levels in you; put you back into the experiences that 

could very potentially cause you problems; but don't expect us to 

help you with them." 

Frankly, I hold that particular Vet Center partially 

responsible for the problem this gentleman had. And I'm not 

saying the Vet Center only does this, okay? They're a good 

organization; but there are weak links in every organization 

sometimes. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Do they have the facilities or the 

capabilities to do the help? 

DR. HAYES: Does who have it? 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: That Vet Center. 

DR. HAYES: With proper staff, yes, sir. 

CHAI~~N FLOYD: And you don't feel that the staff is 

qualifted, is that it? 

DR. HAYES: In this particular Center, definitely not, 

sir. And that's from dealing with that particular Vet Center for 

three and a half years; the personnel in that Center for three 

and a half years. 
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At the same time, a related case that will. be coming to 

trial, in Orange County again, is on a veteran, who is presently 

in Long Beach VA Hospital, to wh.ich we are being called to pro

vide counseling for them because the medical doctor involved 

feels that the Psych and Soc people in the hospital are totally 

incompetent to deal with this man. 

Wh.at the hell are we doing to these veterans when we're 

doing that to them, frankly. 

Let me go on to just a couple of more statements on this 

trial: I go into a trial in which a Public Defender had put 

together a defense about 18 months ago concerning Post-Traumatic 

Stress, and, nOh, here1s a veteran. Let1s put him into this 

particular defense and let's use this defense." To the extent 

that when I get on the stand, I have to say, "Listen, Judge; 

listen jury: it's very possible that this man has some related 

experiences from Vietnam that are causing him problems; but the 

real problem is a predisposed condition that perhaps was aggra

vated by PTSD; but is definitely not the total cause of his prob

lem. " 

Are we treating this veteran any better by not honestly 

diagnosing him and helping him? Or are we treating our system 

any better by not honestly diagnosing and treating this person 

than if we were going over to the other side and not doing any

thing with him, is another issue that comes up. 

I sit on the stand and it1s already with a jury that's 

already been set up with the fact that Vietnam era veteran~ are a 

bunch of -- you can clean up my language -- a bunch of ••. 
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CHAIRMAN FLOYD: No, we've heard it all. 

DR. HAYES: A bunch of individuals who should be locked 

up no matter what they've done, so let's not even worry about it; 

a district attorney who does the same thing; and a judge who 

doesn't let me say anything else different than that -- to the 

extent that now I've got two contempt of court things on me based 

on that trial. And I'd do it again: Spending what amounted to a 

total time of 14 hours on the stand, most of it defending the 

fact that Vietnam veterans are real people; are people who don't 

deserve special treatment. They just deserve fair treatment. 

I guess one key thing I'd say is that no matter what 

comes out of these hearings today, I hope that we all can get a 

picture of the fact that we who are Vietnam veterans, which I am, 

those of us who felt that we had a con~itment to do something for 

our country, whether we still feel that cOlmnitment or not, did do 

f30mething. He did our part. We should not be given special 

treatment for that; but we should not be given less treatment 

because of that either. And there were a whole hell of a lot 0'; 

good people who fought in Vietnam. ]l~ lot of them who were 

friends of mine who died because they were concerned about this 

country; and none of them would have expected special treatment. 

And we don't expect it now; but we'd sure like fair treatment. 

Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Thank you, Doctor. 

Joe Powers is Executive Director of the Flower of the 

Dragon, Inc. in Santa Rosa; and Mr. Robert BeeBee is the Staff 

Attorney. 
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MR. JOE POWERS: Thank you. I'd like to make a few 

cursory statements about what we, as a CBO, are doing with incar-

cera ted veterans and then turn the rest of the testimony over to 

Mr. Beebee. 

While the Dragon operates in county jails of two coun-

ties, Napa and Sonoma, we run into a variety of problems in deal-

ing with the veterans there. Some of it varies with the cooper-

ation of the local jail. For instance, the Sonoma County Jail 

has no system set up to indicate whether an individual is a 

veteran or a non-veteran. So a counselor that goes into the 

Sonoma County Jail has to go through a grapevine process to find 

out who are the Vietnam veterans in the jail and who are not the 

Vietnam veterans in the jail. And this is an issue we've been 

working on with the local jail commander and the county sheriff 

for quite some time. We've been working in the Sonoma County 

Jail since 1979. 

What we do in the jails is we provide one-to-one coun-

seling. One of the reasons we donlt provide group counseling is 

we cannot get the area. Sonoma County Jail is severely 

overcrowded. And a lot of times our counselors have to do coun-

seling in the hallway. 

We do stress reduction; bio feedback in the county jail. 

And we've come up with a pretty unique system. What we do is 

take a Sony Walkman; put it over the guy's head; hook him up to a 

bio feedback machine; turn on the mood music; and go from there. 

In some instances we have people parading by while we're doing 

2.11 this. 
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Napa County Jail is a little bit different. There they 

give us the information on who's a veteran and who is not a vet-

eran. It's a smaller jail; it is not as severely overcrowded as 

the Sonoma County Jail. And we have the complete cooperation of 

the Napa County Jail for providing services there. 

What a community based organization, or what a Vet Cen-

ter, or what the VA can do, is quite a few things. And to alle-

viate some of the problems that got people into jail, or into the 

Criminal Justice System, is to start on the county level and then 

follow those people on up into the state level. There are enough 

people out there who are skilled enough in providing readjustment 

counseling for Vietnam veterans to alleviate some of the problems 

that Vietnam veterans who are involved in the Criminal Justice 

System are havi~g. It can be done. We're doing it on a small 

scale on the local level. It can be done statewide. A lot of 

this involves the cooperation of the local jails and local 

prisons. 

That is about as much as I'm going to get into on this 

issue; and I'd like to turn the rest of the testimony over to Mr. 

Beebee. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Thank you. Mr. Beebee. 

MR. ROBERT BEEBEE: Thank you. I'm an attorney with 

Flower of the Dragon. I generally work in their discharge 

upgrade program. I've been admitted to practice for a year. 

This is my first year. 

I've recently had occasion to represent an individual 

who seems to be typical of some of the people and has been in 
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some of the situations that have been talked about here today. 

Maybe recapping his story will add a little bit of perspective to 

a lot of what you've probably already heard. 

About in August I was asked to assist a veteran in a 

• 

• 

probation revocation hearing. He was charged with violating • 

probation in two counties. It's a little bit complicated. He 

was convicted of a theft offense about a year before and wound 

up, through some unfortunate circumstances, of serving probation • 
in two counties. 

His requirements were rather simple; just that he report 

his whereabouts and that he make restitution. The problem was • 
that he -- well, maybe I'd better approach this a little differ-

ently. Those were the requirements of probation and that was 

what I was asked to represent him in connection with. And being • 
familiar with Vietnam veterans and their problems in the Criminal 

Justice System, my first inquiry was into his military back-

ground. • 

I found that he was a veteran of the Marine Corp. He 

had served in Vietnam in 1965 and 1966. I discovered that on his 

first combat mission, they went into a village; they threw gre- • 
nades in all the bunkers the way they'd been taught. Then he 

discovered women and children climbing out of these bunkers. And 

for the first time realized -- nobody had told him that that's • 

where the women and children hid. And at that point he became by 

and large convinced that this system, his government and so on, 

was the enemy; that there was a conspiracy against people like • 
him, and so on. 
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When he returned- from Vietnam, he returned to a life of 

living in the woods. He lived in the woods, according to a cou-

pIe of reports, variously described as like an Indian; like a 

mountain man living off the land, without shelter often. And he 

did this for a period of about 10 years. During that time of 

course, he had very little contact with people and ~vith society. 

And of course, he was not developing his social skills. He was 

able to do this because he was supported by a VA pension and 

Social Security pension resulting from, I believe, service con-

nected disability that provided him about $400 a month. 

That's when he was involved in a theft offense I'm not 

quite sure still whether or not he was actually guilty of it or 

simply the victim of an improvident plea bargain. As other peo-

pIe have testified, Vietnam veterans simply cop a plea and don't 

go on to fight the thing. But anyway, one of the circumstanr.es 

that led to that was when his pension was suddenly cut. 

An investigation revealed that he had previously been 

diagnosed on three occasions. In 1975, he was diagnosed as 

schizophrenic, undifferentiated. In 1982, he was diagnosed as 

paranoid sChizophrenic. And finally, in 1983, he was diagnosed 

at the Veterans' Administration Medical Center in Palo Alto as 

suffering from Post-Traumatic Stress Syndrome; and that his prob-

lems in relating to society and the system were the result of his 

what was the word they used -- his conception of "the system 

is the enemy." And he was capable, through treatment, of chang-

ing this attitude and understanding that the problem was himself 

and not society. 
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When I brought this information to the probation depart-

ment -- well, the first thing is that I read the two probation 

reports that had been prepared about the year previously -- that 

is, in March or April of '82, and in June of '82 -- neither of 

which had made this kind of inquiry into his background. The 

probation department in one county, when they were confronted 

with this information, their attitude completely changed. They 

said, "My gosh, I never would have recommended him for probation 

in the first place had I had this information." And consequent-

ly, at least in that county, they were willing to go along with 

efforts that I had made in connection with other county agencies 

to place this man in a treatment program as an alternative to 

prison. 

I suppose, and certainly it's already been stated here, 

I've been through the process of trying to implement 1170.8. 

I've contacted virtually every facility in the state of Califor-

nia and found basically what other people have testified to. 

There is no federal facility that will treat Vietnam veterans. 

And also, the Veterans' Administration Medical Centers do not 

want to serv~ce custodial facilities for correctional institu-

tions; and so a person has to be released from a correctional 

institution before the medical centers will take them. 

Fortunately, as I saYr another county agency managed to 

locate a private nonprofit organization that evaluated this 

individual, and although they primarily deal with drug abuse and 

substance abuse, they stated they would work with him. And I'm 

still not quite sure whether that's going to deal with his under

lying problem; but at least it's something other than jail. 
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One of the problems is that there's still a proceeding 

in another county that's going on right now. And I'm not sure if 

that county's going to be as sympathetic or sensitive to this 

issue as the people in the first county were. And I think it 

would be very helpful to have some legislation that would put a 

little force behind that. 

As I go through 1170.8, the first section of that is 

very commendable in that it directs an enquiry into the back-

ground of a criminal defendant, or a criminal convict, to see 

whether or not Vietnam combat experience has contributed to that 

behavior. And as other people have pointed out, it stops there. 

There's no other remedy beyond that. 

There are a couple of suggestions that I could make, and 

one of them is simply to eliminate the term "federal tl from the 

law. And direct the courts to make enquiries and efforts to find 

alternative treatment facilities, whether state, federal, or 

private. 

There ar~ a couple of other supplemental ideas. One is 

that the program be a diversion instead of a.n alternative 

sentence. That is to say that the negotiations as to where to 

put treatment be made at the court level and not the correctional 

institution level, although that may be effective; I'm not famil-

iar with how well or how not well that doesn't work. But it 

seems to me that there are programs dealing with drug abuse and 

alcohol abuse that are diversionary in nature, where a person can 

be relieved of a criminal conviction if he completes the program. 

And I think that's the least that can be done for the Vietnam 
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veterans whose problems result from serving their country and not 

from simply abusing substances per see 

The other observation is that the legislation be broad

ened to include misdemeanors and not simply felonies. Whether an 

individual is convicted on a particular occasion of a felony or a 

misdemeanor is often how lucky he was! prosecutorial discretion, 

plea bargaining, and so on. The main problem is that if a person 

is in the Criminal Justice System and he's a Vietnam veteran and 

he's there because of Post-Traumatic Stress problems, then that's 

a problem to be dealt with whether it's in the municipal or supe

rior court level. 

That's basically my testimony. Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Okay, I'm sorry. You know, I authored 

a couple of bills. The first one was the result of m~ndatory 

sentencing on drunk driving and all, where we made it available 

at the sheriff's discretion that misdemeanor sentences of seven 

days or less could be a work-release program: Ten hours a day 

work-release, or every day sentence. The next year I came back 

and amended that bill to provide for work-release on any misde

meanor sentence. I wonder if we couldn't make the misdemeanor 

sentences part of the game; that it be not only work release, but 

instead of the 10 hours work-release, it could be some work

release and another part of that time being a counseling session 

or something. I wonder if that wouldn't be helpful with misde

meanor sentences. I don't see just putting a guy on probation, 

understanding that this is a man that probation, as we see it -

if he doesn't have a job, if he's not doing something to occupy 
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his time, if he's not participating in a program or something --

that's not going to be helpful to either the veteran or to the 

community. 

MR. BEEBEE: That was the point in this case; that pro-

bat ion in this case was an error. And when the man's background 

was brought to the attention of -the probation department I they 

realized that and then concluded that whatever you would do, 

don't put the man back on probation • 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Maybe this is one of the alternatives 

we look at relating to a veteran on misdemeanor sentence. 

Instead of the community service thing -- that if he has the 

ability to hold a job and such that we just, in lieu of those 

la-day sentences or seven-day sentences or 3D/60-day sentences 

that he subscribe to a program. I know that you and Joe can 

provide that in your counties pretty much 

MR. POWERS: We do that to a certain extent. In fact, 

several of our clients are court referred. And as part of their 

sentence modification, they are required to participate in weekly 

counseling sessions. Otherwise they get their probation jerked. 

And that's good motivation for them to come to the counseling 

sessions. That is being done now to a certain extent. Probably 

not as fully as it should ... 
CHAIRMAN FLOYD: But that puts a probation officer in 

there with all those things. 

MR. POWERS: Right. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: If we do that same thing, not as a 

probation, but in lieu -- I mean, you've got your choice, babe. 
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We have a program here -- and I'm aware that it can't work in 

every county because every county is not fortunate enough to have 

a Flower of the Dragon. But, you know, instead of work-release, 

you're not going to have to do the time if you're doing this. 

And instead of the 10 hours picking up trash in the park, you're 

going to spend two hours every other day or twice a week, in it 

as a sentence. So I think those are some of the things we've got 

to look at. 

And I think that's part of this whole hearing process: 

What the hell can we do besides what we're doing? We know that 

what we're doing is not marvelous. We have some cases where 

we're doing something that works. But for every case that we're 

doing something that works we've got five thousand that we're not 

doing a damn thing except throwing the man in, particularly on 

misdemeanor sentences. 

And Mr. Levin was talking about guys doing life, three 

days at a time; six days at a time. We know that's happening. 

If we can just cut it down to a 20-year sentence, three days at a 

time, we're ahead of the game. So we appreciate your effort. 

And I think this is an excellent example, because this is not an 

isolated case. We know there's a lot of it. This is an exagger

ated case, perhaps, but we know how many guys are living in the 

hills; or living in the hills in the middle of an urban area. 

It's happening all the time. I know it's happening in my area a 

lot. 

Mr. Gray Davis has just joined us. He's an assermlyman 

from Los Angeles. Have you anything on this one. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN GRAY DAVIS: (Inaudible) 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Thank you. 

MR. POWERS: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Thank you very much. 

MR. BEEBEE: Would you like a copy of (inaudible)? 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Yes, please. 

Mr. Ron Perez, Veterans' Service Counselor of the San 

Francisco Sheriffs' Department; another enlightened sheriffs' 

department. There are too damned few of them but we have some, 

and I think that 

MR. RON PEREZ: Yes, that's what I'd like to talk about. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: we don't pin a lot attention on the 

good ones. 

MR. PEREZ: Thank you. I'm here representing Sheriff 

Michael Hennessey, who could not be here because he's currently 

away on vacation. 

I am a Vietnam veteran and have worked in the San Fran-

cisco Sheriffs' Department for some eight and a half years. Over 

the course of those eight and a half years, I have specialized in 

incarcerated veterans, being the only Vietnam veteran on the 

staff of our Prisoners' Services Division. 

For a good number of years I have been struggling within 

the department to get them to recognize the special needs of 

incarcerated veterans, especially Vietnam veterans. For a good 

number of years I was always told, "well, we feel that there's 

not a significant enough population of veterans within our county 

jails to warrant any special services. We have AA coming in; we 
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have this/that corning in." So for me, it's been educating my 

department; educating the people that I work with in the Criminal 

Justice System to become more sensitive and aware of the special 

needs, special services that are available for veterans, espe-

cially Vietnam veterans. 

Our San Francisco Sheriffs' Department has a classifi-

cation system that has been nationally recognized as very sophis-

ticated; one that takes into consideration whether or not you 

have a vulnerable individual; whether or not you have a combative 

prisoner; if you have a first offender, etc., etc., so that they 

can be housed accordingly. 

I was asked to review the process when it was first 

initially being put together. I recognized that there was a 

place for veterans to be acknowledged on this classification 

system. It does not have any bearing on their housing, but they 

can now be identified. We are currently in the process where I 

will be able to go to any facility, flip through the classifica-

tion cards and veterans will be identified. 

Our department is going to be transferring over to a 

computer within the next two years, which means we will be able 

to go over and just push the right button and out of the comput-

er, it will tell me where every veteran is within our Criminal 

Justice System. 

The San Francisco County jails currently house approxi-

mately 1,500 inmates. We have a sentence facility that holds up 

to 600 men; and a sentence women's facility that holds approxi-

mately 50 women, out in San Bruno, 25 miles away from San 

Francisco -- out of sight, out of mind. 
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We have a large facility down at the Hall of Justice. 

We have two floors, the 6th and 7th floors. The 6th floor is 

where people come into jail when they are originally first 

arrested. The 7th floor is when they are bound over, held for 

felony charges we hope -- Prisoners, not only for the San 

Francisco system, but also for CDC, as well as federal and any 

other county or other state that may have a warrant on an indi-

vidual that is picked up in the San Francisco area. 

Now, because of our classification system, veterans can 

be identified immediately at the time of arrest. At the time of 

arrest, there is a screening process where they're asked, "Are 

there any mental problems? Health problems? etc. Are you on 

drugs? Are you kicking? etc." 

I. And so now, at the time of arrest, I have a much better 

ie 
1 
11 
!~ 

t. , 
,r 

chance of identifying the veteran; a better chance of working 

with that veteran prior to his going into the court system. I 

have an opportunity now to contact the probation officer and to 

come up with an alternative. If I find a veteran with an alcohol 

or a substance abuse problem, I can contact the vet rep at Ft. 

Miley, bring him into the jail, and have him do a screening right 

there in the jail; have him go to probation, to the public 

defender, etc. And then when we go to court, to the judge, offer 

an alternative to incarceration. 

In San Francisco we're finding that the courts now are 

recognizing that there are services that can be provided for 

veterans. I am now getting calls from court; not only from the 

courts, but from public defenders, probation officers, as well as 
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community based organizations that are identifying veterans with 

special needs. 

If the individual is unsuccessful at the time of sen

tencing in persuading the judge to allow him to go to a program, 

what we are planning on doing at the beginning of 1984, we are 

going to have groups held out at our San Bruno sentence facility. 

There will be two groups being given twice a week: One for those 

that are not Vietnam veterans, and there will be a special group 

for the Vietnam veterans. 

The people that will be running these groups are staff 

people from the Sheriffs' Department that are sensitive to veter

ans' issues. We are working on getting representatives from our 

Jail Psych Team involved in this, as well as the Outreach Center 

from San Francisco -- the Waller Street Veterans' Outreach Center 

has committed counselors to come in to assist with these groups. 

Our county parole component also contacts me whenever a 

veteran is identified that is eligible for county parole. They 

now contact me, and I get with the veteran and see what his needs 

are, and then see that those needs are met, so that when he goes 

before the county parole board he does have a significant pack

age; one that represents that his needs or his problems are going 

to be dealt with, if they be alcohol or substance abuse, vio

lence, etc.; or if it's just making sure that this person has a 

roof, has employment; even if it's just that he's getting social 

services on the outside. 

The problem we do have in the jail is medical problems 

for veterans. There is no real mechanism, other than my getting 
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the veteran released to me from the jail~ and then my taking him 
-

out to Ft. Miley, or a hospital, and spending the whole day with 

him. If he were to go with a custody person, he would have to go 

in shackles; if he goes with me, he goes unshackled and he goes 

in civilian clothes. I take people out on a regular basis; I 

take them to Ft. Miley to get them screened; I take them where 

ever they need to get screened for acceptance for a program. 

They go under my custody. 

I'm lucky, because as I say, I work in a very sensitive 

sheriffs' department. I've worked hard also to educate them to 

the needs of veterans, but they are listening. And I think this 

is one of the things that needs to be brought out: 1170.8, or 

whatever it's called, in the Penal Code, as you say, it is nice 

on paper, but everybody looks at that -- "Well, what does that 

mean, 'by placing an individual in a federal institution'?" 

As I say, in San Francisco, we try to shortstop as 

quickly as possible. If we can do it right after the time of 

arrest and come up with an alternative prior to them going all 

the way to the state or federal level, I think we save the commu-

nity and the veteran a great deal. 

What is needed is that the courts and probation, etc., 

be educated that Vietnam veterans are a significant population; 

that it should become automatic, if somebody comes into probation 

or is going through the public defenders' system, that that ques-

tion be asked. I have made sure that within the Sheriffs' 

Department in our Division of Prisoners' Services that every 

orientation form, every intake form, there is a section for 
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veterans and for veterans' services. And that is what's needed 

in all of the jails. • 

I can't do all of the services myself; so naturally, I 

look to the Vet Centers; I look to Ft. Miley, etc.; I look down 

to Menlo Park and Swords to Plowshares; so I get the community 

involved. We do networking with our veterans. When a veteran is 

identified, everything is covered -..I.. 
CLl •• the time of release. At 

least he has that opportunity for an alternative to his life-

style. He has that resource that has been brought to his atten

tion. And if he wishes to follow through, he can follow through 

and that support system will be there for him. 

The biggest problem with our county jails is, yes, it is 

a revolving door; because if the individual gets out of the jails 

In San Francisco, if you are released from San Francisco Coun-

ty Jail, you are given 50¢ -- no 60¢ now, because of the bus fare 

increase -- and if you have not had a counselor to develop any 

type of reentry services for you, then it is just out to the 

streets. 

I've been also assisting the shelter people that handle 

all of the shelters in San Francisco for the homeless. I just 

talked with them yesterday, and I had talked also with their 

survey of putting in their questionnaire, "Are you a veteran?" 

Several weeks ag'o they got back to me. Out of an approximate 600 

that were interviewed, of the homeless in San Francisco, 175 were 

veterans; a good portion of those Vietnam era and Vietnam veter-

ans. 
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I talked with them again yesterday. They did a real 

quick survey at a few of the houses just this past weekend over 

the Thanksgiving Holiday. In a couple of the shelters, they were 

50% veterans. They had not gotten it broken down into whether or 

not they were Vietnam, etc.; but we have a significant population 

of veterans that are homeless and in many cases, they come into 

our jail systems. 

Especially in San Francisco, in most cases, I am seeing 

a great many people being sentenced -- rather than to state 

institutions, because we know the state prisons are greatly over-

crowded -- they are being se~ltenced to county jail terms. And in 

many cases, because they are aware of the services provided by 

the San Francisco Sherif·fs' Department, they hope that we will 

possibly come up with an alternative for them. We expect 

well, we are experiencing the verges of overcrowdedness within 

our jail systems. And we do know that over this winter that our 

jails are going to get extremely fuller. 

We do have a work-furlough program and we do have the 

work-release program, that you talked about that you were so good 

in getting signed. We call it SWAP in San Francisco: Work Alter

native. And if we find an individual that is qualified -- One of 

the unique things with the San Francisco Sheriff is, even if we 

have somebody that just needs therapeutic services, that ~e meets 

all the other criteria and he may not have a job but he may have 

some kind of counseling that he can attend, the Sheriff will 

allow the person onto our work-release program. And some kind of 

arrangements will be made for his sliding scale of his rental 

fee. 
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The same thing with veterans. We've had veterans that 

have been arrested for drunk driving, and one of the requirements 

is that they do participate in some kind of an alcohol treatment 

program while they are on our work-furlough. 

I could go on and on and on about our programs in the 

San Francisco County Jail. I would like to extend an invitation 

to you to come to see our programs. 

CHAIID4AN FLOYD: I was just asking; I just made a note 

that we are going to go. 

MR. PEREZ: Great. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: That sometime we can go, and I don't 

know if it helps that Mike Hennessey's a Vietnam vet, but it 

certainly doesn't hurt. And, you know, we do have some very 

enlightened sheriffs and 

MR. PEREZ: Yes, vIe do. And I think for county j ails I 

what is really needed is that county jails cannot lock out the 

community. The county jails have to start opening up their doors 

and bringing the community programs into the jails. There are a 

good number of community programs that want to come in an can 

provide services. And this should be something that should be 

stressed morc. 

Because the more activity going -- We have found the 

more activity going on in the jails, the more time that the indi-

vidual utilizes in the jail, the less tension there- is, the less 

assaults there are, the less attempts of escapes; that if you 

give the individual something to do, at least if he's going to 

have to do the time, utilize his time. And then give him an 

alternative for when that gate opens. 
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Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Ron, my thoughts going through, and we 

keep corning back to the thing that we need to sensitize the judg

es in this state. And I suggested maybe we get together and form 

something that we can go with. Would you participate with us? 

MR. PEREZ: I would like to, yes, very much. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Thank you, and .•. 

MR. PEREZ: And thank you. I am not real disappointed 

in the show -- well, I guess I am in terms of those that showed 

here; but 1 think that should not take away from the fact that 

this hearing is still going on. I would hope that this informa-

tion is shared with all of the rest of the members. And I hope 

that these type of hearings continue, because maybe one day we 

will come in here and they all will be sitting down listening. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: It will be. And this is -- you know, 

these hearings, every since I've had this committee, have 

We've never had a lightweight hearing in this committee. I mean, 

you know, we're dealing with a very heavy subject, no matter what 

base we go to. 

~1d, like I say, we're a select committee developing 

issues. We don't hear bills. If we come up with a bill, we go 

into Governmental Organization with the bill. But our hearings, 

more often than not, result in some fair legislation; and some 

action that we've gotten from departments because of something 

that comes out in the hearing. 

We've had some good responses from several of the agen-

cies. Our Department of Veterans' Affairs, more often than not, 
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is responsive. Because they know if they're not, we're going to 

beat them up a little bit. And, you know, they'd rather work 

with us. Leaveck's a tough guy. 

And it's the kind of thing that I would like -- it's 

never going to happen, but one day I would like to go through 

some of these subjects with 120 legislators sitting there and 

listening and paying some attention. We'd get some response. 

It's never going to happen, but what the hell, we can dream, 

canlt we? 

NR. PEREZ: We can't stop trying. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: That's right. Thank you. 

Oh, I'm sorry. Mr. Davis has a question, Ron. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GRAY DAVIS: You've been with the sheriff's 

office for seven or eight years now? 

MR. PEREZ: Eight and a half years. 

ASSENBLYMAN DAVIS: And when -- how recently did this 

classification program begin for Vietnam, or for Vietnam veter

ans? 

MR. PEREZ: Well, it's not primarily Vietnam veterans. 

It's to identify all veterans and then as they go through our 

system, then we break it down further. But we have instituted 

this program, it's been in use in our jails for approximately a 

year and a half now. And as I said, within the next year, we 

will be transferring into a computer so that we can track all of 

the prisoners throughout the jail; and as I say, I'll be able to 

just push the right button and it will tell me where every veter

an is within our Criminal Justice System. 
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ASSEMBLY~mN DAVIS: I think that's an excellent idea. 

And it may be too early to ask this question, but do you have any 

have you been able to observe any difference in the behavior 

of veterans since this program was instituted, either during 

their term of incarceration or 

MR. PEREZ: I can't really say in terms of behavior of 

the veterans, but I can say in terms of the behavior of the over-

all population; because, essentially, this classification system 

was just to target out those that would be considered vulnerable; 

those that were violent; those that were criminally sophisticat-

ed; as well as the socioeconomic background on it. And I looked 

at it and immediately recognized that if I could also get veter-

ans incorporated into this I could get a whole wealth of knowl-

edge just by the push of a button. 

ASSEMBLYMAN DAVIS: Do you think it has improved the 

general behavior or climate of the prison 

MR. PEREZ: Oh, yes, it has been getting national recog-

nition. And as I said earlier, the Los Angeles Sheriffs' Depart-

ment has recently adopted it and will begin utilizing it in their 

facilities. And their facility, from my understanding, is 

approximately three -to five times larger than the size of ours. 

1ioSSEMBLYMAN DAVIS: Is it possible to track inmates 

after they leave the 

MR. PEREZ: That's one of the problems with the Criminal 

Justice System and with our divisi.on. We're just -- the sher-

iffs' departments are traditionally just considered holding 

facilities, so it's not really a responsibility for us to, you 
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know, see where they go. But if the individual is placed on our 

county parole program, then yes, there is a follow-up. And the 

follow-up can go anywhere from three months to as long as a year. 

ASSEMBLYMAN DAVIS: I think it's a good program. I 

appreciate your being here to talk about it. 

MR. PEREZ: Thank you. 

CHAI~~N FLOYD: Good Sheriff; good Deputy. 

MR. PEREZ: Oh, no, I'm not a deputy. 

CHAlill4AN FLOYD: You're not a deputy? 

(Laughter) 

UNIDENTIFIED: (Inaudible) 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Our last speaker this morning, or tes

tifier this morning, is Mr. Hal Goldman, who is the State Com

mander of the American Legion in the Department of California. 

It is significant that he's the last witness because he repre

sents an organization, which of the traditional organizations in 

our view -- and I've been around veterans' organizations for 

years and years and years -- is the first traditional organiza

tion that has really jumped into representing and participating 

in programs particularly advantageous and designed to program 

with Vietnam vets. And, you know, some years ago I never thought 

I'd see the day when I would salute the American Legion as any

thing but those guys that I see going to conventions and glorify

ing the situation; but I don't know how often we can say it, but 

this American Legion, in California at least, is one hell of an 

organization. And all you 'Nam vets ought to take cognizance of 

it throughout the state. 
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Did I say that right, Hal? 

MR. HAL GOLDMAN: Just like I wrote it. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Right. 

MR. GOLDMAN: I appreciate your comments. When I sought 

the commandership of the American Legion in the State of Califor-

nia, it was some 20-odd years after -- being a Korean veteran 

my activity and role within the veterans' organization began, 

both on a local state and the national level. 

One of the things that we offered this year was, "Edu-

cate, Innovate and Motivate." The other part that I've been 

trying to do this year and working diligently at, and I hope we 

meet with some degree of success by the end of my year, is the 

fact that we have to communicate with all our fellow veterans; 

other organizations, and the individual as well. 

I must admit that this program that we are initiating 

this year in the State of California is not unique to the Ameri-

can Legion, and we are not the first to launch it. We are 

approximately going to be the third department, third state that 

will initiate this program. It is presently in operation in the 

State of Arizona, and is presently in operation in the State of 

Colorado. They have met with some degree of success. Some of 

the things that they have run across have been unique and educa-

tional, to say the least. 

Let me give you first the positive role that we hop~ to 

be able to lend to the veteran: 

It is my opinion that whenever a veteran served and 

where he served and hO\"l he served, as long as he did it honor-
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ably, that's all we ask of any veteran. If they have a problem, 

we presently provide the services of upgrading discharges. 

On the other hand, we also provide services to the fami

ly, education for the young, and welfare for those who are in 

need of it, as well as medical care. 

It's our concern that we do care about our fellow veter

an. If he, because of a moment of desperation, tripped and fell 

out of society, for what ever reason -- be it a substance problem 

or physical problem or an economic problem we want to extend 

to him open arms and say, "we care;" and we're going to try and 

help him out in some way. 

We are unique in the fact that we offer some 700 local 

cOID~unity posts within the entire State of California, from the 

Mexican border to the Oregon border. We can and will work with 

the authorities in the matter of following them up after they get 

out. 

But let me address the fact that there are those who are 

presently in minimum security institutions for just a moment. 

We're asking for the ability and the capacity to establish Ameri

can Legion posts inside these facilities; to go in and train, 

inform and educate the veteran as to what the American Legion 

really is all about; how it can provide a service to him and his 

family, or her and her family; the victims and their family. We 

can do this in many ways. 

They have established projects within the facilities in 

Arizona and Colorado where they have built parks and they have 

done some construction work with the training that has come forth 
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from the veteran community, seeking to train these men while they 

are incarcerated, to hold out the hope and good fortune of future 

employment when they are released. And to assist them in that 

transitional period. And letting them know that we -- who have 

been able, by God's good fortune, not to have fallen astray of 

the law -- do care, and are willing to give them the helping hand 

after they've fallen down, as you would a child: or anybody else 

that has fallen down. 

with the facility of the American Legion, and we are 

hoping that more and more of our states within our national 

organization are going to be incorporating this program, that we 

in turn will be able, not only to follow it up on a local level, 

but on a national scale. The American Legion, I think, has 

reached the point of maturity where they are opening up their 

eyes, and some of the old dogmas that have restricted our open-

ness and have led to that reputation which you inferred \vas prev-

alent at the beginning of this meeting, we're hoping to change 

all t.hat. 

Right now, our Law and Order Committee -- on which there 

are no less than eight retired law officers who are most support-

ive of this program. I originally thought we would have some 

reticence on their part -- has informed us that at one time, many 

years ago, there was such a post in San Quentin. And it did 

reach a certain degree of success; and through the change of 

administration, was discouraged to the point where it was finally 

eliminated. We're looking to reinstitute that post, and in some 

of the other areas in California. 
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We are willing to work wit'h any and all individuals, be 

they Legionaires or not, as long as they are concerned with the 

lot of the veteran, and how we can improve that lot; make them a 

member of society; eliminate their problem on behalf of the state 

where it becomes an encumbrance on the state or the society; and 

make these people, who are more than willing to jump in and -

The lessons that we've learned are these people are so damned 

grateful that they bend over backwards and give you back three

fold whatever they get, once you have gotten them on their road. 

And this, in essence, is the program that we have in the 

American Legion, without belaboring it and a lot of rhetoric; 

because I know you've heard a lot of testimony this morning and I 

don't want to go into areas that you've probably had. I apolo

gize for being late; but I just got in to Sacramento, specifical

ly for this purpose. 

I wanted you to know the American Legion is stepping out 

full bore, wholeheartedly, and making a total commitment to 

establishing at least two of these posts prior to May 31, 1984. 

The restrictions that we run across and the problems that we 

have, you will be made well aware of; so that you can facilitate 

the establishment of these posts within these institutions. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Great. We want to help. This may be 

more helpful than even you see on the surface. We were discuss

ing earlier the sensitivity of judges and knowing what th8y're 

dealing with, particularly with vets, and particularly with 'Nam 

vets. And I see a great importance, because I am aware of how 

many judges belong to the American Legion. 
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So like I said earlier, the American Legion, as I've 

found in the last -- well, more so since you've become Commander, 

Hal -- but in the last few years is not what we all saw the 

American Legion as being; not a place for guys to get together 

and wave the flag and tell war stories, but an organization that 

helps vets. And we w'ant to be of whatever help v.7e can. 

And I know we've been seeing a lot of you; you're going 

to be seeing a lot more of us. And we certainly thank you for 

your •.. 

MR. GOLDMAN: Let me point out that one of the groups 

that you mentioned, and one of the groups of people that are 

already involved with the Los Angeles Sheriffs -- We have a post 

within the Los Angeles Sheriffs that is supportive of this; with-

in the l,os Angeles Police Department; the San FranciElco Police 

Department. With our connections to that side, they have become 

totally committed to trying to work with this. And that is a bit 

of irony right there. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Yes, it is. And of course it's advan-

tageous to the cops. 

MR. GOLDMAN: Okay, but we're taking out the generali-

ties and we're now working in a one-on-one type of situation. 

And I think that's the advantage that we have over many of these 

other groups, people, individuals who are concerned; because 

we're coming to them as brother-to-brother from both sides. And 

having first met a person one-on-one, you can deal with the situ-

ation, I think, a lot more amicably ..• 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: That's true. 
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ation. 

MR. GOLDMAN: •.• than you can with a control-type situ-

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: Very good. Thank you again. 

MR. GOLDMAN: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN FLOYD: I would like to thank Assemblyman 

Davis, and Assemblyman Hannigan who was here earlier and had to 

leave for another function, and most importantly, those of you 

who are in the audience. 

And it's always interesting that when we deal with hear

ings relating to any of these subjects, some of you we see at 

every function and every hearing, which indicates, to us an~vay, 

an organization being represented that has an interest in every 

facet of the veterans' problems and programs throughout the 

state. I thank you. 

And like "'·le always say on these things, we don't hold a 

hearing just to hold a hearing. We hold a hearing to corne up 

with something that we can do that's positive and that we can 

demonstrate, not only to our colleagues, b?t to the people that 

somebody is here; somebody has an interest. And -- These are 

very heavy hearings. They always get a little heavier than we 

anticipate when we walk in. 

We hope that you will hear from us and we hope that we 

will hear from you, and we can corne up with maybe some ideas, 

some pru9~am, some help for that vet out there who, the day he 

got his separation papers, has looked at it as all being over -

with so many dead, and he can't expect anything. We'd like to 

see that veterans do expect something, whether they're in or out. 
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